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Introduction 

 

 

Cette monographie tente de reconstituer 
l’environnement, les états d’esprit et les événements 
qui ont touché Claude et sa famille pendant leur séjour 
dans le Massachusetts en se basant sur des extraits de 
livres et recueils d’histoire variés (voir bibliographie à 
la fin du présent article). 

The following monograph attempts to reconstruct the 
environment, mindsets and events affecting Claude 
and his family during their time in Massachusetts 
based on and using extracts from various history books 
(see bibliography at the end of this article). 

 

Remarque : Cet article avance plusieurs hypothèses 
d'analyse qui reste encore à prouver. 

Note: This article puts forward several hypotheses for 
analysis that remain to be proven. 
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Avant propos  //  Foreword 
 

Généalogie de la Famille de - CLAUDE BOURGEOIS - Family Genealogy 
 

Abbréviations/Abbreviations : n/b: Né(e)/Born, b/b: Baptisé(e)/Baptised, m/m: Marié(e)/Married, d/d: Décédé(e)/Died, e/b: 

Enterré(e)/Buried,fd/so: Fils ou Fille de/Son or Daughter of, av/bf : Avant/Before; sex : F, M 

 

Claude BOURGEOIS n/b : env/abt 1695, Beaubassin, Acadia. d/d : 1760/1763, Amesbury, Essex, MA, US. 

m/m : Marie (Marguerite) LEBLANC (Le Blanc) (Blanc), fd/do : Pierre LEBLANC (Le Blanc) et/and Madeleine 

(Magdeleine) BOURQUE (Bourg), 24 Nov 1721, [St-Jean-Baptiste], Port-Royal,  NS. Marie - n/b : 1 Jan 1705/1706, 

Port-Royal,  NS. b/b : 8 Mar 1706, Port-Royal,  NS. d/d : 24 Jan 1781, St-Jacques-de-l'Achigan, Montcalm, QC, CA. 

e/b : 25 Jan 1781, [St-Jacques], St-Jacques-de-l'Achigan, Montcalm, QC. 

Ils eurent les enfants suivants. - They had the following children. 

 1) F Marie Anne BOURGEOIS n/b: env/abt 1723,  NS, CA. b/b: [St-Jean-Baptiste], Port-Royal, Annapolis, 
NS. d/d: 23 Jan 1808, St-Ours, Bas-Richelieu, QC. e/b : 25 Jan 1808, [Immaculée-Conception], 
St-Ours, Bas-Richelieu, QC. 

m/m : Joseph GAUDET (Gaudair) (Gaude) (Godet), so/fd :Bernard GAUDET et/and Marguerite 
PELLERIN, av/bf  31 Dec 1750, CA. Joseph - e/b : 28 Jun 1765, [Ste-Anne], Varrennes, Verchères, 
QC. 

 

Les Gaudets vivaient dans le 

Tintamarre avant la déportation. 

Joseph Gaudet a probablement été 

déporté sans sa famille, mais nous ne 

pouvons pas trouver son nom sur 

aucune des listes de déportés établies 

par Paul Delaney. Anne et ses enfants 

sont allés à l’Île Saint Jean et de là au 

Québec, où deux des enfants meurent 

lors de l'épidémie de variole. 

The Gaudets lived in Tintamarre 

before the deportation. Joseph Gaudet 

was probably deported without his 

family, but we cannot find his name on 

any of Paul Delaney's lists of 

deportees. Anne and her children go to 

Île St-Jean, and from there to Québec, 

where two of the children die during 

the smallpox epidemic.) 

 

 2) M Pierre Benjamin (Binjamin) BOURGEOIS n/b : 16 May 1726, Port-Royal, Annapolis, NS. b/b : 18 May 
1726, [St-Jean-Baptiste], Port-Royal, Annapolis, NS. d/d : 24 Nov 1821, Grande-Digue, Kent, NB. 
e/b : 14 Fev/Feb 1822, [Notre-Dame-de-la-Visitation] Grande-Digue, Kent, NB. 

 

Pierre-Benjamin semble avoir été 

parmi les Acadiens qui ont échappé à 

la déportation en fuyant vers la région 

de Petitcodiac, où son premier enfant 

est né. Il est à Petitcoudiac en 1755, à 

Rivière St-Jean en 1768 et à 

Memramcook en 1770. 

Pierre-Benjamin appears to have been 

among those Acadians, who escaped 

the deportation by fleeing to the area 

of the Petitcodiac, where his first child 

was born. He was in Petitcodiac in 

1755, River St-Jean in 1768 and 

Memramcook in 1770. 
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m/m : (1) Cécile AUCOIN, fd/do : René AUCOIN et/and  Madeleine BOURG (Bourque), 1752/1 
Avr/Apr 1754, NS. Cécile - n/b : env/abt 1726, Grand-Pré ou/or St-Charles-des-Mines, Kings, 
NS. d/d : 1755/1760. 

m/m : (2) Anne LEBLANC (Thébaud), fd/do : René LEBLANC et/and Anne THÉRIAULT (Térriot), 
env/abt 1761.  Anne - n/b : 22 Mai/May 1728, Grand-Pré ou/or St-Charles-des-Mines, Kings, 
NS. d/d : 1768, Pisiguit, Hants, NS. 

m/m : (3) Anne THÉBEAU (Thibault) (Thibeau) (Thibaud), fd/do : Jacques François THÉBEAU 
et/and Anne MÉLANSON, env/abt 1770/1771, Grand-Pré ou/or St-Charles-des-Mines, Kings, 
NS. Anne - n/b : 1745, Grand-Pré ou/or St-Charles-des-Mines, Kings, NS. d/d : 1830, Grande-
Digue, Kent, NB. 

m/m : (4) Anne THIBODEAU1 env/abt 1780. 

 3) F Marie Madeleine (Magdelaine) BOURGEOIS n/b : 7 Mai/May 1728, Port-Royal, Annapolis, NS. b/b : 
8 Mai/May 1728, [St-Jean-Baptiste], Port-Royal, Annapolis, NS. e/b : 16 Mai/May 1780, St-
Jacques-de-Nantes, Nantes, Loire-Atlantique, FR. 

m/m : (1) Jean Prudent (Joseph) ROBICHAUD, fd/so : Joseph ROBICHAUD et/and Marie 
FOREST, 28 Nov 1752, Port-Royal, Annapolis, NS, CA. Jean - n/b : 1722, Port-Royal, Annapolis, 
NS, CA. d/d : 2 Jan 1759/1760, Cherbourg, Normandie, Manche, FR. 

 

Les Robichauds vivaient à 

Memramcook avant la déportation.  

Après avoir pris refuge à l'Île-St-Jean 

(c.-à-d. Île-du-Prince-Edward), ils ont 

été déportés en France ou Joseph 

décède en 1759 ou 1760. Marie 

Madeleine se remarie deux fois en 

France à des Acadiens qui s'y trouvent 

et elle décède à Nantes les 13 février 

1770. 

The Robichaud’s lived in Memramcook 

before the deportation. After taking 

refuge on Île-St-Jean (i.e., Prince 

Edward Island), they were deported to 

France where Joseph died in 1759 or 

1760. Marie Madeleine remarried 

twice in France to Acadians deported 

there, and she died in Nantes the 13 

February 1770. 

 

m/m : (2) Charles BOUDROT (Boudreau), fd/so : Denis BOUDROT (Boudreau) (Boudreau) 

et/and Agnès VINCENT, 19 Aout/Aug 1762, St-Trinité, Cherbourg, Manche, FR. Charles - n/b : 

1710/1711, Grand-Pré ou/or St-Charles-des-Mines, Kings, NS. d/d : 19 Nov 1766, St-Malo, Ille-

et-Villaine, Bretagne, FR. e/b : 20 Nov 1766, [Hotel-Dieu], St-Malo, Île-et-Vilaine, FR. 

m/m : (3) Étienne THÉRIAULT (Terriot), fd/so : Jacques TERRIOT (Thériault) et/and Marie 

LEBLANC, 13 Feb/Fev 1770, St-Servan-de-St-Malo, Îlle-et-Vilaine, Bretagne, FR. Étienne - n/b : 

1 Jan 1724/1725, Grand-Pré ou/or St-Charles-des-Mines, Kings, NS. d/d : 24 Nov 1781, St-

Jacques-de-Nantes, Nantes, Loire-Atlantique, FR. e/b : 24 Nov 1781, St-Jacques-de-Nantes, 

Nantes, Loire-Atlantique, FR. 

 4) F Anastasia (jumelle/twin) BOURGEOIS n/b : 2 Dec 1730, Port-Royal, Annapolis, NS. b/b : 3 Dec 1730, 

 
1 Possiblement la même personne que Anne Thibault sa troisième femme. 

Possibly the same person as Anne Thibault his third wife. 
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[St-Jean-Baptiste], Port-Royal, Annapolis, NS. d/d : 24 Jul 1793, St-Jacques-de-l'Achigan, 

Montcalm, QC. e/b : 26 Juil/Jul 1793, [St-Jacques], St-Jacques-de-l'Achigan, Montcalm, QC. 

m/m : Pierre DUPUIS (Dupuy), fd/so : Jean (Pierre) DUPUIS et/and Anne RICHARD, 27 Jan 1755, 

[St-Jean-Baptiste], Port-Royal, Annapolis, NS. Pierre - n/b : env/abt 1714.  d/d : 27 Jan 1790, St-

Jacques-de-l'Achigan, Montcalm, QC. e/b : 29 Jan 1790, [St-Jacques], St-Jacques-de-l'Achigan, 

Montcalm, QC. 

 

Les Dupuis ont été déportés à Rowley, 

dans le Massachusetts. À la suite de 

leur temps en exil, ils s'installent à St-

Jacques-l'Achigan. 

The Dupuis' were deported to Rowley, 

Massachusetts.   Following their time 

in exile they settled in St-Jacques-

l'Achigan. 

 

 5) F Élizabeth (jumelle/twin) BOURGEOIS n/b : 2 Dec 1730, Port-Royal, Annapolis, NS. b/b:  3 Dec 1730, 

[St-Jean-Baptiste], Port-Royal, Annapolis, NS. 

 6) M Joseph Abel (Amable) (Pierre) BOURGEOIS n/b : on 29 Aout/Aug 1733, Port-Royal, Annapolis, NS. 

b/b : 30 Aug 1733, [St-Jean-Baptiste], Port-Royal, Annapolis, NS. d/d : 23 Nov 1812, Bécancour, 

Bécancour, QC. e/b : 25 Nov 1812, [La-Nativité-de-la-Bienheureuse-Vierge-Marie], Bécancour, 

Nicolet, QC. 

m/m : Marguerite DOUCET (Doucette) (Dousset) (Bouvet), fd/do : Joseph DOUCET et/and 

Anne BOURG, 1762 CT et/and 28 Sep 1767 [La-Nativité-de-la-Bienheureuse-Vierge-Marie], 

Bécancour, Bécancour, QC. Marguerite - n/b : 1731/1741, Port-Royal, Annapolis, NS. d/d : 28 

Dec 1821, Bécancour, Bécancour, QC. e/b : 31 Dec 1821, Bécancour, Bécancour, QC. 

 7) M Amand (Armand) BOURGEOIS (Bourgois) n/b : 25 Mar 1735, Port-Royal, Annapolis, NS. b/b : 25 

Juil/Jul 1735, [St-Jean-Baptiste], Port-Royal, Annapolis, NS. d/d : 21 Fev/Feb 1818, St-Jacques-

de-l'Achigan, Montcalm, QC. e/b : 23 Fev/Feb 1818, [St-Jacques], St-Jacques-de-l'Achigan, 

Montcalm, QC. 

m/m : Marguerite (Marie-) DUGAS (Dugaz), fd/do : Claude DUGAS et/and Marie Jeanne 

(Josephte) MÉLANÇON (Mélanson), 1764 , MA et/and 26 Jul 1767, L'Assomption, Montcalm-

Joliette, QC. Marguerite - n/b : env/abt 1738, Port-Royal, Annapolis, NS. d/d : 4 Jul 1820, St-

Jacques-de-l'Achigan, Montcalm, QC. e/b : 6 Juil/Jul 1820, [St-Jacques], St-Jacques-de-

l'Achigan, Montcalm, QC. 

 8) M Amable (Abal) BOURGEOIS n/b 28 Oct 1737, Port-Royal, Annapolis, NS, CA. b/b 30 Nov 1738, [St-

Jean-Baptiste], Port-Royal, Annapolis, NS, CA. d/d 22 Jan 1795, St-Jacques-de-l'Achigan, 

Montcalm, QC, CA. e/b 23 Jan 1795, [St-Jacques], St-Jacques-de-l'Achigan, Montcalm, QC, CA. 

m/m : Louise (Marie-) RICHARD, fd/do : Jean Baptiste RICHARD et/and Marguerite 

ROBICHAUD, 1760, En-Exile/In-Exile et/and 7 Aout/Aug 1774, L'Assomption, 

Montcalm/Joliette, QC. Louise - n/b : env/abt 1742. d/d : 12 Jun 1799, St-Jacques-de-l'Achigan, 

Montcalm, QC. e/b : 14 Jun 1799, [St-Jacques], St-Jacques-de-l'Achigan, Montcalm, QC. 

 9) F Gertrude BOURGEOIS n/b: 10 Mai/May 1739, Port-Royal, Annapolis, NS. b/b: 11 Mai/May 1739, [St-

Jean-Baptiste], Port-Royal, Annapolis, NS. d/d:  31 Dec 1757/20 Juil/Jul 1760, Amesbury, Essex, 
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MA. 

 10) F Marguerite BOURGEOIS n/b: 10 May 1741, Port-Royal, Annapolis, NS. b/b: 11 Mai/May 1741, [St-

Jean-Baptiste], Port-Royal, Annapolis, NS, CA. d/d : av/bef  21 Nov 1796, Cabanocey, St-James-

Parish, LA. 

m/m: Joseph GAUDET (Godait) (Godee), fd/so: Claude GAUDET et/and Catherine Josephe 

FOREST, 10 Dec 1765, New-Orleans, Orleans-Parish, LA. Joseph - n/b: 1738, Port-Royal, 

Annapolis, NS. d/d: env/abt 1817, Lafourche-Parish, LA. 

 11) F Nathalie (Attela) BOURGEOIS n/b: 7 Fev/Feb 1743, Port-Royal, Annapolis, NS. b/b: 8 Fev/Feb 1743, 

[St-Jean-Baptiste], Port-Royal, Annapolis, NS. 

 12) M Germain (i) (Jeremy) BOURGEOIS n/b: 28 Dec 1749, Port-Royal, Annapolis, NS. b/b: 1 Jan 1750, [St-

Jean-Baptiste], Port-Royal, Annapolis, NS. d/d: 31 Jan 1820, St-Jacques-de-l'Achigan, Montcalm, 

QC. e/b: 2 Feb 1820, [St-Jacques], St-Jacques-de-l'Achigan, Montcalm, QC. 

m/m : Ludivine Élisabeth (Izabel(le)) (Zabel) BELLIVEAU (Bélliveau) (Bellivo) (Béllivau) 

(Béliveaux), fd/do : Charles (i) BELLIVEAU (Bélliveau) et/and Osite (Osithe) (Octavie) DUGAS, 10 

Jun 1776, [St-Jacques], St-Jacques-de-l'Achigan, Montcalm, QC. Ludivine - n/b : env/abt 1758, 

Port-Royal, Annapolis, NS. d/d : 27 Mar 1844, St-Jacques-de-l'Achigan, Montcalm, QC. e/b : 28 

Mar 1844, [St-Jacques], St-Jacques-de-l'Achigan, Montcalm, QC. 
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Avant la déportation (1695-1755) 

  //   

Before the Deportation (1695-1755) 
 

Claude (à Germain, à Jacques) Bourgeois est né vers 
1695 à Beaubassin, en Acadie (aujourd'hui Amherst, 
comté de Cumberland, en Nouvelle-Écosse, Canada). 
Beaubassin, le premier village après Port-Royal à être 
fondé par des colons acadiens, fût fondé, en fait, en 
1672 par Jacques (Jacob) Bourgeois, le grand-père de 
Claude, aidé de ses deux fils : Germain, le père de 
Claude, et Guillaume, son oncle. 

Claude (son of Germain, son of Jacques) Bourgeois was 
born around 1695 in Beaubassin, Acadia (today 
Amherst, Cumberland County, in Nova Scotia, 
Canada). Beaubassin, the first village after Port-Royal 
to be established by Acadian settlers, was founded, in 
fact, in 1672 by Jacques (Jacob) Bourgeois, grandfather 
of Claude, assisted by his two sons: Claude’s father 
Germain and his uncle Guillaume.  

Germain fût un personnage majeur de l'époque et est 
mentionné dans de nombreux documents 
archivistiques conservés en Nouvelle-Écosse et en 
France. Germain est également mentionné par le 
Major Benjamin Church dans son journal2 au sujet de 
son attaque contre Beaubassin en 1696. 

Germain was a major figure of the time and is 
mentioned in many archival documents conserved in 
both Nova Scotia and France. Germain is also 
mentioned by Major Benjamin Church in his journals3 
regarding his 1696 attack on Beaubasin. 

Germain décida de quitter Beaubassin après le 
recensement acadien de 1701 et retourna à Port-
Royal. 

Germain decided to leave Beaubassin following the 
1701 Acadian census and returned to Port Royal. 

Le nom de Claude est mentionné pour la première fois 
dans le recensement acadien de Beaubassin en 1700, 
avec son père, Germain. Au recensement de 1701, il est 
compté comme un des fils de Germain mais pas 
mentionné par son nom. La raison du départ de 
Germain de la région de Beaubassin n’est pas claire, 
mais peut avoir été due aux escarmouches constantes 
entre les Français et les Anglais dans la région. 

Claude is mentioned by name for the first time in the 
1700 Acadian census of Beaubassin with his father 
(Germain). In the 1701 census, he is counted as one of 
Germain’s sons but not mentioned by name. The 
reason for Germain’s departure from the Beaubassin 
area is unclear but it may have had something to do 
with the constant skirmishes between the French and 
the English in the region. 

 

Recensement acadien de 1700 (Beaubassin) : Acadian census of 1700 (Beaubassin):  
 

Germain BOURGEOIS, 50 (fils de Jacques 

Bourgeois); Madeleine DUGAST (épouse), 37; 

Guillaume, 26; Joseph, 11; Claude, 6; Agnès, 16; 

Anne, 12; Marie, 7; Françoise, 2; 19 bovins, 12 porcs, 

22 arpents, 5 fusils. 

Germain BOURGEOIS, 50 (son of Jacques 

Bourgeois); Madeleine DUGAST (wife), 37; 

Guillaume, 26; Joseph, 11; Claude, 6; Agnès, 16; 

Anne, 12; Marie, 7; Françoise, 2; 19 bovines, 12 hogs, 

22 acres, 5 guns. 

 

 

 
2 Faragher, John Mack. A Great and Noble Scheme. (New York: W.W. Norton & Company, Inc., 2005), p. 133. 
3 Faragher, John Mack. A Great and Noble Scheme. (New York: W.W. Norton & Company, Inc., 2005), p. 133. 
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Recensement acadien de 1701 (Beaubassin) : Acadian census of 1701 (Beaubassin): 
 

Germain BOURGEOIS (fils de Jacques Bourgeois), 

son épouse, 2 fils, 4 filles, 20 arpents, 22 bovins, 10 

porcs, 6 fusils. 

Germain BOURGEOIS (son of Jacques Bourgeois), his 

wife, 2 boys, 4 girls, 20 acres, 22 bovines, 10 hogs, 6 

guns. 

 

En juillet 1704, les Anglais attaquèrent Port-Royal. 
Bien que les Bostoniens aient été repoussés, ils prirent 
beaucoup de prisonniers. Germain Bourgeois fut 
envoyé à Boston en tant que représentant du 
gouvernement acadien, afin de procéder à un échange 
de prisonniers. Il retourna à Port-Royal avec 51 
prisonniers acadiens. 

In July of 1704, the English attacked Port-Royal. 
Although the Bostonians were repelled, they took 
many prisoners. Germain Bourgeois was sent to 
Boston, as a representative of the Acadian 
government, in order to carry out an exchange of 
prisoners. He returned to Port Royal with 51 Acadian 
prisoners. 

Une carte géographique, disponible à la boutique du 
site historique de Grand-Pré, basée sur le 
recensement de 1707 (par Delabat) et couvrant la 
région d'Annapolis Royal (Port-Royal) depuis l'Île-aux-
Chèvres jusqu’à Bridgetown, indique le lieu où 
Germain et Guillaume s’étaient établis, sur la rivière 
Annapolis, près d’Upper Granville. 

A map sold at the boutique at the Grand-Pré historic 
site based on the 1707 census (by Delabat) which 
covers the Annapolis Royal area (Port Royal) from Goat 
Island to Bridgetown, shows that both Germain and his 
brother Guillaume had a homestead up the Annapolis 
River near Upper Granville. 

 

 
A - Carte/Map: Au coeur de l’Acadie, Acadian Settlement on the Annapolis River, 1707.  - Développement des ressources humaines 

Canada/Human Resources Development Canada. (http://joachimleblanc.com/Carte1.htm) 

En 1708, les Bostoniens montèrent une autre attaque 
contre l'Acadie. En dépit de leur supériorité 
numérique, ils furent de nouveau repoussés. 

In 1708, the Bostonians attempted another attack on 
Acadia. In spite of their superior numbers, they were 
once again repelled. 

http://joachimleblanc.com/Carte1.htm
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Le 28 septembre 1710, le colonel Francis Nicholson et 
le commodore anglais George Martin quittèrent la 
Nouvelle-Angleterre pour attaquer Port-Royal. 
Germain était alors capitaine de la milice de Port-
Royal. L'attaque et le siège eurent lieu du 5 au 13 
octobre 1710. Cette fois, les Anglais réussirent et 
établirent une garnison anglaise permanente à Port-
Royal, qui est dès lors renommé « Annapolis Royal » 
par les Anglais. 

On September 28, 1710, Colonel Francis Nicholson and 
the English Commodore George Martin left New-
England to attack Port Royal. Germain was then the 
captain of the militia of Port Royal. The attack and 
siege took place from the 5th to the 13th of October 
1710. This time the English were successful and 
established a permanent English garrison in Port 
Royal, which is then renamed “Annapolis Royal” by the 
English.  

Au cours des mois suivants, plusieurs Acadiens 
formèrent un complot pour se rebeller contre les 
Anglais. Parmi les rebelles se trouvèrent Guillaume 
Bourgeois (c.-à-d., le fils de Germain Bourgeois), Jean 
Comeau, Pierre Leblanc, François Brossard et le Père 
Justinien Durand. Le commandant anglais de la 
garnison d'Annapolis Royal, Samuel Vetch, envoya les 
rebelles à Boston comme prisonniers. À l'automne de 
1711, les rebelles furent libérés et retournés à 
Annapolis Royal. Germain mourut en 1711, tandis que 
les rebelles et le père Durand étaient tenus en 
captivité à Boston. 

In the ensuing months, many of the Acadians formed 
a plot to rebel against the English. Among the rebels 
were: Guillaume Bourgeois (i.e., Germain’s son), Jean 
Comeau, Pierre Leblanc, Francois Brossard and Father 
Justinien Durand. Samuel Vetch, the English 
commander of the garrison at Annapolis Royal, had 
the rebels sent to Boston as prisoners. In the autumn 
of 1711, the rebels were released from their 
imprisonment and were returned to Annapolis Royal. 
Germain died in 1711 while the rebels and father 
Durand were held captive in Boston. 

 

Extrait du registre de l'église St-Jean-Baptiste à 
Port-Royal : 

Extract from the St-Jean-Baptiste church registry at  
Port-Royal: 

 (Translation) 

 

« Angélique Cormier, femme de Jacques Laure, Germain 

Bourgeois, Joseph Terriot et Pierre Fe… (illisible) sont 

mort l’an 1711 durant ma captivité à Boston. 

F. Justinien Durand, Récollet, missionnaire.» 

“Angélique Cormier, wife of Jacques Laure, Germain 

Bourgeois, Joseph Terriot and Pierre Fe… (unreadable) 

died in 1711 during my captivity in Boston.  

F. Justinien Durand, Récollet, missionary.” 

 

La veuve de Germain Bourgeois et ses enfants 
demeurant à la maison, y compris Claude, sont 
répertoriés pour la dernière fois durant le 
recensement de 1714. 

Germain Bourgeois’ widow and the children residing in 
the household, including Claude, are listed for the last 
time during the Census of 1714. 

Claude et sa famille n'apparaissent sur aucun des 
recensements Acadiens après 1714. Où ils vivent et 
comment ils auraient échappé aux autres processus de 
recensement n'est pas clair, mais les registres de la 
paroisse St-Jean-Baptiste de Port-Royal montre 
clairement qu'il vivait dans la région de la vallée 
d'Annapolis jusqu'en 1750. 

Claude and his family do not appear on any of the 
Acadian censuses after 1714. Where they lived and 
how they would have escaped the other census 
processes is unclear, but the St-Jean-Baptiste church 
records of Port-royal clearly show that he lived in the 
Annapolis valley area up until 1750. 
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Nous assumons que Claude et sa famille demeurèrent 
sur la ferme familiale jusqu'à leur déportation4 en 
1755. 

We can assume that Claude and his family remained 
on the family farm until they were deported5 in 1755. 

 

La déportation des Acadiens (1755) 

  //-   

The Acadian Deportation (1755) 
 

En juillet 1755, le commandant Lawrence et le conseil 
des provinces décidèrent de disperser parmi les sujets 
de Sa Majesté dans les colonies américaines les 
Acadiens qui refusaient de prêter le serment 
d'allégeance inconditionnel, afin que les habitants ne 
puissent revenir à cette province, ni à se joindre aux 
forces françaises de Nouvelle-France ou de 
Louisbourg. Au cours de la semaine suivante, les 
Acadiens se consultèrent et  refusèrent finalement de 
prêter serment. 

In July 1755, Commander Lawrence and the Provinces 
Council decided to disperse among His Majesty's 
subjects in the American colonies such Acadians that 
refused to take the unconditional oath of allegiance, 
so that the inhabitants may not return to this province 
nor join French forces in New France or Louisbourg. 
Over the next week, the Acadians discussed their 
response and finally refused to take the oath. 

 

Avec le refus des Acadiens de prêter serment en main, 
le conseil commença à recruter des navires pour 
déporter les Acadiens et Lawrence envoya les 
premières directives de déportation au lieutenant-
colonel Monckton au Fort Cumberland (anciennement 
Fort-Beauséjour), à Chignectou. 

With the refusal of the Acadians to take the oath in 
hand, the Council began securing ships to deport the 
Acadians and Lawrence sent the first deportation 
directives to Lieutenant-Colonel Monckton at Fort 
Cumberland (formerly Fort Beauséjour), in 
Chignectou. 

 
B - Expulsion des Acadiens / Expulsion of the Acadians. Lewis Parker. (http://www.uppercanadahistory.ca/finna/finna6a.html) 

 
4 La plupart des enfants de Claude Bourgeois et Marie (Marguerite) Leblanc furent déportés à Boston avec leurs parents. Seul Pierre-

Benjamin échappa à la déportation et demeura dans la région par après. (Voir généalogie de Claude Bourgeois et Marie Leblanc 

après les notes.) 
5 Most of Claude Bourgeois and Marie (Marguerite) Leblanc’s children were deported to Boston with their parents. Only Pierre-

Benjamin evaded deportation and remained in the region afterwards. (See Claude Bourgeois and Marie Leblanc’s genealogy after 

the notes.) 
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Les déportations à partir d’Annapolis Royal 
commencèrent en octobre 1755. Des huit navires 
recrutés pour effectuer la déportation des Acadiens 
d’Annapolis Royal, seul l’Helena6, un navire de 166 
tonnes dirigé par le capitaine Samuel Livingston, mis 
cap sur Boston, au Massachusetts (MA). L’Helena 
quitta l’Île-aux-Chèvres7, à Annapolis Royal, le 
27 octobre 1755 et arriva à Boston le 29 décembre 
1755 avec 323 exilés à bord : 52 hommes, 52 femmes, 
108 garçons et 111 filles. Puisque Claude et sa famille 
habitaient vraiemblablement Annapolis Royal à 
l’époque de la déportation, nous supposons qu’ils se 
trouvaient parmi ce groupe d’exilés. La ville 
d’Amesbury, Massachusetts, enregistra l’arrivée de 
dix Acadiens au début janvier 1756, dont Claude et sa 
famille. 

The deportations from Annapolis Royal began in 
October 1755. Of the eight ships hired to deport the 
Acadians from Annapolis Royal, only the Helena8, a 
ship of 166 tonnages captained by Samuel Livingston 
sailed to Boston, Massachusetts (MA). The Helena left 
Goat Island9 (Île-aux-Chèvres) Annapolis Royal on 
October 27, 1755, and arrived at Boston Harbor on 
December 29, 1755, with 323 exiles on board: 52 men, 
52 women, 108 boys and 111 girls. Given that Claude 
and his family lived, in all likelihood, in the Annapolis 
Royal area at the time of the deportation, we assume 
that they were among this group of exiles. The town of 
Amesbury, Massachusetts, registered the arrival of ten 
Acadians at the beginning of January 1756, including 
Claude and his family. 

 

 
C - Navires de la Déportation – Deportation ships 

 
6 Il est probable que le gouverneur Lawrence nolisa l’Helena par l’entremise de Charles Apthorp et Thomas Hancock, de la société 

mercantile bostonienne Apthorp & Hancock, pour être utilisé comme moyen de transport pour l’enlèvement des exilés acadiens de la 

côte est en échange d’une redevance mensuelle (par tonne), d’honoraires du pilote et de fournitures. Le montant des provisions allouées 

aux transports, inclus dans les ordres d’appareillage émis par Lawrence, était de 5 lb de farine et 1 Lb de viande de porc (ou 1 Lb de 

bœuf, 2 lb de pain et 5 lb de farine) par 7 jours, pour chaque personne à bord. (Sélection de documents publics de la province de la 

Nouvelle-Écosse, publiés par résolution de l’Assemblée législative du 15 mars 1865 à 1869.) 
7 Île-aux-Chèvres (Goat Island) is located in the Annapolis River (previously Dauphin River) across from Annapolis Royal. 
8 The Helena was probably chartered by Governor Lawrence, through Charles Apthorp and Thomas Hancock of the Boston Mer-

cantile Company of Apthorp & Hancock, to be used as a transport for the removal of the Acadian exiles to the eastern seaboard for a 

monthly fee (per ton), plus a pilot’s fee and provisions. The amount of provisions for the transports were included in the sailing 

orders issued by Lawrence and was to be 5 Lb of flour and 1 Lb of pork (or 1 Lb of beef, 2 Lb of bread and 5 Lb of flour) per 7 days, 

for each person aboard. (Selection of public documents of the Province of Nova Scotia, published by resolution of the House of 

Assembly from March 15, 1865, to 1869). 
9 L’Île-aux-Chèvres est située sur la Rivière Annapolis (anciennement Rivière Dauphin) face à Annapolis Royal. 
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La vie à bord des navires fut difficile. L’Helena prit 66 
jours à parcourir les 330 milles (531 km). Ce fut une 
période de tempête violente et un tremblement de 
terre10 secoua la Baie de Fundy le 18 novembre 1755. 
Les navires ne possédaient assez de nourriture que pour 
27 à 30 jours, et de nombreux témoignages de 
capitaines et d’exilés indiquent qu’on ne permettait aux 
exilés que 90 minutes par jour sur le pont, pendant le 
long voyage. 

Life aboard the ships was difficult. The 330 mile trip 
took the Helena 66 days. The weather during this 
period was said to be severe and an earthquake11 
rocked the Bay of Fundy on November 18, 1755. The 
ships only had enough food for 27 to 30 days, and 
many reports by captains and exiles indicate that the 
exiles were only allowed 90 minutes a day on deck 
during the long journey. 

 

Les années d’exil 

  //   

The Years in Exile 
 

Amesbury, Massachusetts (1755-1760) 
 

1755 
 

À l'automne de 1755, la Guerre de la Conquête (Guerre 
de Sept-Ans) faisant rage au nord des colonies inquiéta 
les citoyens d’Amesbury et beaucoup d'hommes 
s’enrôlèrent dans l'armée pour défendre les colonies. 

By the fall of 1755, the citizens of Amesbury were 
anxious about the French and Indian War (Seven-Years’ 
War) being fought to the north of the colonies and 
many men enlisted in the army to defend the colonies. 

Une trentaine d'hommes d’Amesbury s’enrôlèrent et 
furent envoyés à Kennebec, Minis (Minas) et Crown 
Point. 

About 30 men from Amesbury enlisted and were sent 
to Kennebec, Minis (Minas) and Crown Point.  

 
10   Le 18 novembre 1755, les états de la Nouvelle-Angleterre furent témoins d’un tremblement de terre mesurant 6,2 sur l’échelle de 

Richter, mais il semble avoir fait peu de dégâts. Le capitaine Richard Kelly, dans son journal, le décrit ainsi : 

(Traduction) 

 « Le 18 novembre 1755, étant un mardi, vers quatre heures du matin, il y eut une secousse de tremblement de terre qui secoua 

autant que celui du 29 octobre 1727, mais le bruit n’était pas si fort ; il se poursuivit un long moment, je pense, le plus long que 

j’ai jamais entendu de toute ma vie, et tout comme le jour se leva il y eut un autre, mais pas aussi fort que le premier, et je l’ai 

entendu tous les jours depuis jusqu’au 22e jour dudit mois. » 

 Merrill, Joseph (1880). History of Amesbury Including the First Seventeen Years of Salisbury to the Separation in 1654 and 
Merrimac from its incorporation in 1876. Haverhill: Press of Franklin P. Stiles. 

 
11 On November 18, 1755, the New England states were rocked by an earthquake measuring 6.2 on the Richter scale, but there 

seemed to have been, but little damage done. Captain Richard Kelly, in his diary, thus describes it: 

“1755 November 18, it being Tuesday, about 4 o’clock in the morning was an exceeding shock of ye earthquake which shook here as 

much as that in ye here 1727, October 29, but ye noise was not so loud; it continued a great while, I think the longest that ever I heard 

in all my life, and just as ye day break there was another but nothing so hard as ye former, and I have heard it every day since to ye 

22nd day of said month.” 

Merrill, Joseph (1880). History of Amesbury Including the First Seventeen Years of Salisbury to the Separation in 1654 and Merrimac 
from its incorporation in 1876. Haverhill: Press of Franklin P. Stiles. 
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L’Helena quitta Annapolis Royal (Port-Royal) le 27 
octobre 1755. Après leur arrivée à Boston, le 29 
novembre 1755, Claude et sa famille attendirent 
plusieurs jours ou semaines avant d'être autorisés à 
débarquer du navire. Une fois sur terre, un comité 
assigna Claude et sa famille à une ville et les escorta à 
cette ville qui devra les accueillir pendant les 12 
prochaines années. 

The Helena left Annapolis Royal (Port-Royal) on 
October 27, 1755. After arriving in Boston on November 
29, 1755, Claude and his family waited several days, or 
weeks before being allowed to disembark from the 
ship.  Once on land, a committee assigned Claude and 
his family to a town and escorted them to the town that 
was to host them for the next 12 years. 

Le 20 décembre la Province du Massachusetts passe un 
projet de loi enjoignant les tribunaux des séances 
générales, les juges de paix et les superviseurs chargés 
de veiller sur les pauvres ou les « Selectmen » de 
chaque ville à voir à la subsistance des Français neutres 
relevant de leur juridiction ou à les lier sous contrat 
d’apprentissage comme ils le feraient, par la loi, pour 
tout habitant légal, et à présenter un compte-rendu 
exact des dépenses au Secrétaire d’État pour 
remboursement.  

On December 20th, the Province of Massachusetts 
passed a draft bill directing the courts of general 
sessions, the justices of the peace, and the Overseers of 
the Poor or the Selectmen of each town to support or 
bind out to service the French Neutrals within their 
jurisdiction just as they would, by law, any legal 
inhabitant, and to submit an accurate account of their 
charges to the State Secretary for reimbursement. 

 

La liaison sous contrat (liaison de service) des pauvres et 
ceux considérés comme incapables de voir à leur propre 
subsistance est une pratique courante dans les colonies 
à l’époque. La liaison de service était un régime de travail 
qui reliait les familles d’accueil avec les pauvres garçons 
et filles volontaires (ou non) pour servir leurs maîtres et 
maîtresses comme apprentis ou domestiques. La durée 
moyenne de service était un peu plus de dix ans. Les 
dossiers des Superviseurs des pauvres de Boston 
montrent qu’entre 1756 et 1806, plus de 1 100 enfants 
ont été liés comme apprentis. 

The binding out (indenturing) of the poor and those seen 
as unable to take care of themselves is a common 
practice in the colonies at that time. Binding out was a 
labor system that connected host families with poor boys 
and girls willing (or not) to serve their masters and 
mistresses as apprentices or servants. The average term 
of service was just over ten years. The Boston Overseers 
of the Poor records show that between 1756 and 1806 
over 1,100 children were apprenticed. 

 

 

1756 
 

Pour les gens d’Amesbury, la Guerre de la Conquête 
(Guerre de Sept-Ans) continua à causer des ennuis à la 
frontière occidentale de la colonie, et les appels furent 
lancés pour inciter les hommes à s’enrôler dans 
l’armée. Les capitaines sous les gouverneurs royaux 
reçurent l’ordre d’enrôler les hommes, lorsque 
nécessaire, et au cours de l’année, le capitaine George 
Worthen d’Amesbury prit des hommes comme il 
l’entendait. 

For the people of Amesbury, the French and Indian War 
(Seven-Years’ War) continued to be troublesome on the 
western border of the colony, and calls were again 
made for men to enlist in the army. The captains under 
the royal governors were ordered to conscript men 
when needed, and over the course of the year, Capt. 
George Worthen of Amesbury took men as he pleased.  

Claude et sa famille furent d’abord envoyés à Newbury 
au Massachusetts (aujourd’hui Newburyport), 
probablement par voie maritime étant donné que 
Newbury était un port prospère situé sur la rivière 
Merrimac, mais peut-être aussi par voie terrestre où ils 

Claude and his family were first sent to Newbury, 
Massachusetts (now Newburyport), probably by sea 
given that Newbury was a thriving port located on the 
Merrimac River, but possibly by land where they were 
transferred to the Selectmen of Amesbury and 

http://www.primaryresearch.org/pr/index.php?option=com_content&view=article&id=587:children-bound-out-1756-1806&catid=68&Itemid=93
http://www.primaryresearch.org/pr/index.php?option=com_content&view=article&id=587:children-bound-out-1756-1806&catid=68&Itemid=93
http://www.primaryresearch.org/pr/index.php?option=com_content&view=article&id=587:children-bound-out-1756-1806&catid=68&Itemid=93
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furent transférés aux Selectmen d’Amesbury et 
transportés à Amesbury le 5 janvier 1756. Ils arrivèrent 
dans une ville qui avait vu plusieurs de ses hommes 
blessés ou tués dans la Guerre de la Conquête. La 
famille de Claude arriva dans un environnement hostile 
et fut probablement considérée comme l’ennemi au 
sein de la communauté. Dans les jours suivant leur 
arrivée, des Selectmen prirent deux des filles de Claude 
afin de les lier sous contrat à des domiciles comme 
servantes conformément à la loi qui avait été adoptée 
par le gouvernement du Massachusetts en décembre. 

transported to Amesbury on the 5th of January 1756. 
They arrive in a town that had seen many of its men 
injured or killed in the French and Indian War. Claude’s 
family arrived in a hostile environment and was 
probably seen as the enemy within the community. 
Within days of their arrival Selectmen took two of 
Claude’s daughters to be bound out for service as per 
the law that had been passed by the Massachusetts 
government in December. 

 

Remarque : Les « Selectmen » étaient des 
représentants de ville ou village qui avaient été 
choisis ou nommés par la ville lors d’une réunion 
publique. 

Note: The Selectmen were town representative that 
had been selected or appointed by the town in a 
public meeting. 

 

Le 16 janvier, la Province du Massachusetts passa une 
ordonnance de la cour générale enjoignant le comité 
nommé pour s'occuper des Français neutres à assurer 
le soin des Français neutres nouvellement arrivés et de 
fournir un compte-rendu de ce qu’ils ont fait pour les 
personnes déjà dans la province. 

On the 16th of January, the Province of Massachusetts 
passed a general court order directing the Committee 
appointed to care for the French Neutrals to provide 
care to newly arrived French Neutrals and provide an 
account of what they have done for those already in the 
province. 

Le comité procéda à distribuer hâtivement les Français 
neutres parmi les villes et villages du Massachusetts 
sans se préoccuper de la capacité des villes et villages 
hôtes de s’occuper des nouveaux arrivants. 

The Committee proceeded to hastily distribute arriving 
French Neutrals amongst the towns and villages of 
Massachusetts without much regards to the ability of 
the host towns and villages to care for the new arrivals. 

 

 

 

 

Le 4 mai, le Conseil général de la province du 
Massachusetts reçut une pétition de Claude Bourgeois. 
Claude ne pouvait pas écrire, et l’on ne sait pas s’il 
comprenait ou parlait l’anglais, cette pétition fut 

On May 4th the general Council of the province of 
Massachusetts received a petition from Claude 
Bourgeois.  Claude could not write, and it is unclear how 
much English he understood or spoke, so this petition 



Page 16 

Version 3.5 Date : 1 février / February 2023 
Copyright © 2016  Marc Bourgeois – Histoire-de-Bourgeois.ca - All rights reserved/Tout droit réservés 

probablement écrite par un citoyen d’Amesbury 
sympathique à sa cause. 

was probably written by one of the Amesbury 
sympathetic town folk.  

 

« Pétition de Claude Bourgeois, 4 mai 1756 »  “Petition of Claude Bourgeois, May 4, 1756” 

(Traduction)  

 

« À l’honorable Conseil de Sa Majesté de la Province de 

la Baie du Massachusetts : 

"To the honorable his Majesty’s Council of the Province 

of the Massachusetts Bay 

N’en déplaise à vos Honneurs, Claude Bourgeois, votre 

requérant, un des anciens habitants français de Nouvelle-

Écosse, fut envoyé, avec sa famille, à Amesbury au 

Massachussetts par Ordre de la Cour Générale où il a 

résidé de façon continuelle avec sa femme et six enfants, 

et il demande permission de présenter à vos Honneurs 

qu’il y a environ quatre semaines, 10 ou 12 hommes 

vinrent et lui enlevèrent deux de ses filles; une âgée de 25 

ans et l’autre, de 18. Que ses filles étaient lors employées 

à filer, pour la famille, les pauvres restants de lin et de 

laine qu’elles avaient sauvés depuis Annapolis. Votre 

requérant ayant ramené ses filles à la maison, la Ville a 

retenu leur subsistance de façon que depuis maintenant 

14 jours, il n’a reçu rien du tout pour leur éviter famine 

et le propriétaire de la maison où il demeure menacé d’en 

prendre loyer de par le labeur de ses enfants. 

May it please your Honours, Claude Bourgeois our 

petitioner, one of the late French inhabitants of Nova 

Scotia was sent with his family to Amesbury MA by Order 

of the General court, where he has resided continuously 

with his wife and six children and he begs leave to 

represent to your Honours that about four weeks ago ten 

or twelve, men came and took away from him two of his 

daughters, one of the age of 25 years and the other of 18. 

That his Daughters were at that time employed in 

spinning for the Family the poor remains of the flax and 

wool which they had sav'd from Annapolis. Your 

petitioner having fetch'd his Daughters home again; the 

Town have withheld their subsistence so that for fourteen 

Days past he has received nothing at all to prevent them 

from starving and the owner of the house where he lives 

threatens that he will pay the rent of it by his children's 

labor. 

Votre requérant prie vos Honneurs de bien vouloir lui 

accorder la grâce de remédier à la situation, et votre 

requérant sera éternellement reconnaissant à vos 

Honneurs.  

Your petitioner prays your Honour to relieve under these 

circumstances, and your petitioner shall ever pray. 

La marque X de Claude Bourgeois  The mark X of Claude Bourgeois 

Boston, le 4 mai 1756 » Boston, May 4th, 1756" 

 

« (Réponse) En Conseil, le 5 mai 1756 » "(Response) In council, May 5th, 1756” 

(Traduction)  

 

« Lu et ordonné que les « Selectmen » de la ville  

d’Amesbury soient servis avec une copie de cette pétition 

et qu’ils se renseignent sur l’objet de cette plainte sans 

délai et qu’ils fassent rapport des principaux faits de cette  

affaire à ce conseil dès que possible. Que dans 

l’intervalle, ils prennent soin que les Français neutres 

dans ladite ville soient traités avec humanité et que toutes 

les choses nécessaires à leurs survies leur soient fournies. 

"Read and ordered that the Selectmen of the Town of 

Amesbury be served with a copy of this petition and that 

they forthwith make strict inquiry into the matter of this 

complaint and make report of the main facts of this affair 

to this board as soon as may be had.  That in the 

meantime they take special care that the French Neutrals 

in said town be treated with humanity and that all their 

necessities be procured. 

S. Phipps » S. Phipps" 
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Étant donné l’âge des filles décrites dans ce document, 
elles peuvent avoir été Élisabeth, née en 1730 et 
Gertrude, née en 1738. Cependant, aucun de ces noms 
ne figure parmi ceux enregistrés dans la liste de 1760 des 
Français neutres vivant à Amesbury. 

Given the age of the girls described in this document, 
they may have been Elizabeth, born in 1730 and 
Gertrude, born in 1738. However, neither of these 
names figure amongst those recorded in the 1760 
listing of French Neutrals living in Amesbury. 

Les comptes-rendus soumis par le conseil d’Amesbury à 
la Province le 7 septembre 1756 montrent qu’Amesbury 
avait pris soin de 10 Français neutres assignés à la ville du 
5 janvier au 1er juin 1756. Ils indiquent également que 
lesdits Français neutres furent transportés de Newbury à 
Amesbury le 5 janvier 1756. 

The accounts submitted by the Amesbury Council to 
the Province on September 7, 1756, show that 
Amesbury took care of 10 French Neutrals assigned to 
the town from the 5th of January to the 1st of June 
1756. They also indicate that the said French Neutrals 
were transported from Newbury to Amesbury on the 
5th of January 1756.  

 

Selon un extrait du History of Amesbury : According to an extract from the History of Amesbury: 

(Traduction)  

 

« Plusieurs d’entre eux furent cantonnés à Amesbury 

pour quelques années et ils furent soutenus par la ville. 

Une maison fut louée pour eux et d’autres dépenses 

engagées et parmi les éléments de cette année (c.-à-d., 

1756) la veuve Esther Colby reçut 10 shillings pour 

leur compte. » 

“Several of them were quartered at Amesbury for 

some years and provided for by the town. A house was 

hired for them, and other expenses incurred, and 

among the items this year (i.e., 1756), the Widow 

Esther Colby received 10 shillings on their account.” 

 

Au cours de l’année, la question de la liaison sous contrat 
des Français neutres physiquement aptes au travail 
devint un enjeu majeur pour le Conseil général de la 
province. Plusieurs requêtes furent déposées en 1756 
pour abolir la pratique, mais sans succès. D’autres 
motions furent mises de l’avant en appui à la liaison sous 
contrat. Ils rencontrèrent aussi de la résistance. Le 1er 
mars 1756, la province adopta une motion permettant la 
liaison sous contrat des Français neutres ou le soutien 
par la province. Le même jour la province adopte une 
motion afin d’éviter les frais imputés à la province dictant 
que les « Français neutres soient soutenus et pris en 
charge, comme toute autre personne malade ou 
indigente qui n’est pas un habitant de la ville ou du 
quartier.  » 

Over the course of the year, the question of the binding 
out of able-bodied French Neutrals became a major 
issue for the General Council of the province. Several 
motions were put forth in 1756 to abolish the practice 
but without success. Other motions were put forth in 
support of the binding out. They also encounter 
resistance. On March 1, 1756, the province passed a 
motion allowing for the binding out of the French 
Neutrals or support provided for by the province. The 
same day the province passed a motion to prevent 
charge to the province directing that “French Neutral be 
relieved and supported for, as any other sick or indigent 
person who is not an inhabitant of the town or district.” 

La libre circulation des Français neutres au sein de la 
province devient aussi un sujet de préoccupation, car 
certains d’entre eux se trouvèrent à avoir quitté la ville 

ou le village auquel ils avaient été affectés. Le 28 août 
1756, le Conseil tabla et la Chambre vota sur un projet de 
loi « ANNA REGNI GEORGII SECUNDI TRICESSIMO » qui 
tenta de restreindre la circulation des Français neutres et 
définit les châtiments corporels, y compris les coups de 
fouet, pour avoir quitté l’enceinte de leur ville hôtesse 

The free movement of the French Neutrals within the 
province also became a concern as some of them were 
found to have left the town or village to which they 

had been assigned.  On Aug 28, 1756, a committee 
brought in, and the House voted on a bill “ANNA 
REGNI GEORGII SECUNDI TRICESSIMO” that 
attempted to restrict the movement of the French 
Neutrals and define physical punishments, including 
lashings, for leaving the confines of their assigned 
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sans l’autorisation écrite de deux « Selectmen » ou 
Superviseurs des pauvres, mais le projet de loi ne fut pas 
adopté. 

town without the writing permission of two Selectmen 
or Overseers of the Poor, but the bill is not passed.  

Cependant les deux Chambres adoptèrent le chapitre 9 

des lois de la Province, que le gouverneur promulgua 
comme loi. 

But both Houses did pass Province Law Chapter 9 and the 

governor signed it into law. 

 

Extrait de French Neutrals in Massachusetts; the story of 
Acadians rounded up by soldiers from Massachusetts 
and their captivity in the Bay Province : 

Extract from French Neutrals in Massachusetts; the 
story of Acadians rounded up by soldiers from 

Massachusetts and their captivity in the Bay Province: 

(Traduction)  

 

« LOIS DE LA PROVINCE, CHAPITRE 9, LOI  POUR MIEUX 

ORDONNER LES ANCIENS HABITANTS DE LA NOUVELLE-

ÉCOSSE TRANSPORTÉS ICI PAR ORDRE DU 

GOUVERNEMENT DE CETTE PROVINCE. 

"PROVINCE LAWS CHAPTER 9, AN ACT FOR THE BETTER 

ORDERING OF THE LATE INHABITANTS OF NOVA SCOTIA 

TRANSPORTED BY ORDER OF THE GOVERNMENT THERE. 

« (Art. l) À partir du 1er  jour d’octobre prochain, tout 

habitant français de la Nouvelle-Écosse retrouvé à 

l’extérieur des limites de la ville ou du quartier dans 

lequel il ou elle réside ou doit résider par ordonnance 

de notre Cour, sans permis, en main, par écrit, signé 

d’au moins deux des « Selectmen » ou Superviseur 

chargé de veiller sur les pauvres de ladite ville ou ledit 

quartier, ces délinquant sera emprisonné pour une 

période de cinq jours, sans permis ni main prise et 

détenu sur une diète habituellement autorisée aux 

prisonniers incarcérés en isolement; et il serait légal 

pour toute personne de condition libre d’appréhender 

ledit délinquant et de le porter devant le juge de paix du 

comté, qui est par les présentes autorisé et doit donner 

l’ordre d’incarcérer ce délinquant comme susdit; et 

aussi pour le transport du détenu à sa libération de 

prison jusqu’à la ville ou le quartier dans lequel il doit 

résider sur l’ordre de ce gouvernement; la dépense 

entière de l’instance susmentionnée incombant à 

l’auteur de l’infraction, si possible; dans le cas 

contraire, par la province, telle dépense étant 

premièrement autorisée et certifiée par le juge devant 

lequel la procédure doit être entendue. Et qu’il soit de 

plus ordonné. 

"( Sect. l) That from and after the first day of October 

next, if any of the French Inhabitants of Nova Scotia 

shall be found without the limits of the town or 

district in which he or she hath been or shall be 

ordered by this Court to reside, without license, first 

hand, in writing, under the hands of at least two of 

the Selectmen Or Overseers of the Poor of such town 

Or district, every such offender shall be imprisoned 

in close gaol for the space of five days, without bail 

or mainprise, and kept on such diet only as is usually 

allowed to prisoners under close confinement; and it 

shall and may be lawful for any person of free 

condition, to apprehend such offender, and carry him 

or her before the next Justice of the Peace of the 

county, who is hereby authorized and required to 

give order for the imprisonment of such offender as 

aforesaid; and also for carrying him or her back, 

when discharged from imprisonment, to the town or 

district in which he or she has been or shall be placed 

by order of this government; the whole charge of the 

proceedings aforesaid to be borne by the offender, if 

able; otherwise, by the province, such charge being 

first allowed and certified by the justice before whom 

the proceedings shall be had. And be it further 

enacted 

« (Art. 2) Qu’aucun permis ne soit octroyé par un 

Selectman ou Superviseur chargé de veiller sur les 

pauvres de n’importe quelle ville ou quartier, à tout 

susdit Français, pour toute période continue de plus de 

six jours d’absence, de l’endroit assignée pour leur 

résidence, ni de s’absenter de chez eux le jour du 

Seigneur; et que tout Selectman ou Superviseur des 

pauvres de n’importe quelle ville ou quartier, présume 

de donner un permis pour une absence plus longue, ou 

"( Sect. 2.) That no license shall be granted by the 

Selectmen or Overseers of the Poor of any town or 

district, to any of the French aforesaid, for more than 

six days' absence at one time, from the place 

assigned for their residence, nor to be absent from 

their homes on the Lord's Day; and if any Selectmen 

or Overseers of the Poor of any town Or district, 

shall presume to give a license for a longer absence, 

or upon the Lord's Day, they shall forfeit for every 
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pour le Jour du Seigneur, ils doivent payer pour chaque 

personne ainsi autorisée, la somme de quarante 

shillings, pour le soutien des pauvres de cette ville ou 

quartier, somme à être récupérée par le trésorier de ce 

lieu qui doit en informer un juge de paix de Sa Majesté 

pour le comté où telle infraction aurait été commise.» 

person so licensed, the sum of forty shillings, for the 

use of the poor of such town or district, to be 

recovered by the treasurer thereof, by action of 

information, to be brought before anyone of his 

Majesty's justices of the Peace for the county where 

such offence shall be committed." 

 

Cette loi abolit les châtiments corporels, ajoute des 
restrictions sur la circulation le dimanche (ce qui était 
pratique générale dans la plupart des villes de la 
province) et ajoute des amendes pour chaque 
« Selectman » et Superviseur des pauvres qui 
n'appliquaient pas la loi. 

This law removed the physical punishment, added 
restrictions for movement on Sunday (which was 
the general practice in most towns in the province) 
and added fines for every Selectman and overseer 
of the poor that did not implement the law. 

 

Remarque :Avant que cette loi ne soit promulguée, 
de nombreuses villes et  villages restreignaient la 
circulation de leurs citoyens le dimanche, Jour du 
Seigneur, autre que pour aller aux rencontres de 
prière. Cette restriction visait à protéger les ménages 
et les biens des citoyens qui seraient incapables de 
les protéger pendant qu’ils étaient à la rencontre de 
prière. 

Note: Prior to this law being enacted, many towns 
and villages already restricted the movement of its 
citizen on Sunday, Day of the Lord, other than going 
to prayer meetings. This restriction was intended to 
protect the households and goods of the citizens that 
would be unable to protect them while at the prayer 
meeting. 

 

1757 
 

Le 21 janvier 1757, le Conseil provincial ordonne aux 
« Selectmen » et aux Superviseurs des pauvres de fournir 
une liste des personnes françaises (nom, âge, sexe, santé 
et capacité) résidant dans leurs villes respectives avec 
tous les comptes futurs pour la subsistance desdites 
personnes. 

On January 21, 1757, the provincial Council directed the 
Selectmen and Overseers of the Poor to provide a list of 
the French persons (name, age, sex, health, and capacity) 
residing in their respective towns with all future accounts 
for support of said persons.  

Les « Selectmen » d'Amesbury continuèrent de fournir 
des comptes pour le soutien des Français neutres aux 
autorités provinciales, mais aucun d'entre eux ne 
contenu la liste des Français neutres demandée. La liste 
ne semble pas être fournie avant 1760.  Les comptes 
présentés en date du 14 mars 1757 parlaient de 10 
Français neutres, alors que le compte suivant, en date du 
31 décembre 1757, ne parlait que d'une famille 
composée de 8 personnes. Il n'est pas clair à ce stade où 
seraient passés les 2 autres Français neutres. 

The Amesbury Selectmen continued to supply accounts 
for the support of the French Neutral to the provincial 
authorities, but none of them contained the requested 
list of French Neutrals. The list does not seem to be 
supplied until 1760.  The accounts submitted on March 
14, 1757, talked of 10 French Neutral while the following 
account dated December 31, 1757, spoke of only one 
family consisting of 8 people. Where the 2 other French 
Neutrals were is not clear at this point.  

Obtenir des recrues pour l’armée sous le comte de 
Loudon n’était pas une tâche facile pour le capitaine 
George Worthen et il se trouva à avoir besoin d’utiliser 
tout le pouvoir que lui avait conféré le gouverneur royal. 
En conséquence, il pressa en service toute personne de 
son choix. 

To obtain recruits for the army under the Earl of Loudon 
was no easy task for Capt. George Worthen and he found 
himself needing to use all the power conferred to him by 
the royal governor. Accordingly, he pressed into service 
any person he chose. 
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Le 16 août, les hommes choisis partirent pour rejoindre 
l’armée principale que recueillait Lord Loudon pour 
lutter contre les Français et les Indiens aux lacs (c.-à-d., le 
Lac Champlain et le Lac George). En arrivant à Marlboro, 
près de Worcester, ils reçoivent la nouvelle de la 
reddition du Fort William-Henry aux Français sous 
Montcalm. Toutes les opérations furent suspendues 
pour la saison et les hommes furent autorisés à 
retourner à la maison. Ils arrivèrent à Amesbury le 20 
août. 

On August 16th, the chosen men marched away to join 
the main army which Lord Loudon had been collecting to 
fight the French and Indians at the lakes (Lake Champlain 
and Lake George). When arriving at Marlboro, near 
Worcester, they received news of the surrender of Fort 
William Henry to the French under Montcalm. All further 
operations were suspended for the season and the men 
were allowed to march home. They arrived in Amesbury 
on the 20th of August. 

Le 25 août 1757, la Chambre des représentants vota sur 
une motion demandant que le gouverneur empresse les 
Français neutres dans le service militaire sous le 
commandement de l’amiral Holburn. La motion ne fut 
pas adoptée, et aucune autre mesure ne fut prise. 

Si adoptée, cette motion aurait forcé les Français neutres 
à se battre pour les Anglais contre les Français et les 
Indiens. 

On August 25, 1757, the House of Representative voted 
on a motion requesting that the Governor impress the 
French Neutrals into military service under the command 
of Admiral Holburn. The motion was not passed, and no 
further action was taken. 

If passed this motion would have forced the French 
Neutrals to fight for the English against the French and 
the Indians.  

À la fin de 1757, il devint évident que le coût associé au 
soutien des Français neutres devenait un problème. 
Beaucoup de villes et de villages commencèrent à 
adresser des pétitions au Conseil provincial afin que 
certains ou tous les Français neutres dans leur juridiction 
soient déménagés vers un autre emplacement. 

By the end 1757, it was evident that the cost associated 
with the support of the French Neutrals was becoming a 
problem. Many towns and villages began to petition the 
provincial Council to have some or all of the French 
Neutrals in their jurisdiction removed to another 
location. 

 

1758 
 

Le 18 mars 1758, la Cour générale ordonna qu’on 
fournisse aux Français neutres une habitation et que les 
Français neutres, hommes et femmes, physiquement 
aptes au travail soient responsables de leur propre 
subsistance, et que ceux qui ne l’étaient pas continuent 
à être soutenus aux dépens de la province. Cette décision 
fut approuvée par le Conseil et la Chambre des 
représentants. 

On March 18, 1758, the General Court directed that 
French Neutrals be provided a dwelling house, and that 
able-bodied French Neutral men and women work for 
their own support, and those who are not, continue to 
be provided for at the expense of the province. It is 
concurred by the Council and House of Representatives.  

Le 14 juin 1758, la première ordonnance fut clarifiée, et 
la Cour générale passa un vote requérant qu’une 
habitation soit fournie pour les Français neutres, que les 
Selectmen de la ville subviennent aux besoins des 
malades, des infirmes et des vieux à être remboursés par 
la province, et que tous les Français neutres 
physiquement aptes au travail soient responsables de 
leur propre subsistance. Les membres de la Chambre des 
représentants reçurent l’ordre de vérifier l’âge, le degré 
d’infirmité, de maladie, le statut d’orphelins et l’aptitude 
physique des Français neutres dans leurs villes 
respectives conformément à cette clarification. Ceci fut 

On June 14, 1758, the first order was clarified, and the 
General Court passed a vote requiring that dwelling 
houses be provided for the French Neutrals and the sick, 
infirm, and aged be provided for by the town Selectmen 
to be reimbursed by the province, all able-bodied French 
Neutrals to be liable for their own support. Members of 
the House of Representatives were directed to inspect 
the age, infirmity, sickness, orphanship, and ability of 
French Neutrals within their respective towns in 
accordance with this clarification. It too was concurred 
by the Council and House of Representatives.  
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aussi approuvé par le Conseil et la Chambre des 
représentants. 

Suivant cet ordre tous les membres de la famille de 
Claude en bonne condition physique auraient été 
responsables de leur propre soutien. Les Selectmen 
demeureraient responsables de l’hébergement et de la 
subsistance des personnes malades, infirmes et âgées. 

Following this order all the able-bodied members of 
Claude’s family would have been liable for their own 
support. The Selectmen would only remain responsible 
for lodging and support of the sick, infirm and aged.  

 

Selon le livre « History of Amesbury » According to the book History of Amesbury 

(Traduction)  

 

 «Les Français neutres d’Amesbury vivaient alors 

dans la maison du Capitaine Jonathan Barnard, 

mais reçurent l’ordre de déménager quelque part 

dans la paroisse de l’ouest». 

 “The French Neutrals of Amesbury were then living 

in Capt. Jonathan Barnard's house, but they were 

ordered to be removed to some place in the West 

parish.”  

 

1759 
 

La guerre de la Conquête continua d’être une source 
d’ennuis pour les citoyens d’Amesbury, et une 
importante délégation d’hommes d’Amesbury allèrent 
au Lac George, soit comme soldats ou ouvriers. 

The French and Indian War continued to be a source of 
trouble for the townsfolk of Amesbury and quite a large 
delegation of Amesbury men went to Lake George, 
either as soldiers or laborers. 

Au mois de mars, les Selectmen présentèrent un compte 
au Conseil provincial pour le soutien des Français 
neutres, mais aucun détail concernant les Français 
neutres n’est fourni. 

In March, the Selectmen submitted an account to the 
provincial Council for the support of the French Neutrals, 
but no details about the French Neutrals are provided. 

Le 13 septembre 1759, Québec tombe aux mains des 
Britanniques. Le 13 octobre 1759, les autorités 
provinciales du Massachusetts déclarent le 25 octobre 
un jour public d’action de grâces pour la capture de 
Québec. 

On September 13, 1759, Quebec falls to the British. On 
October 13, 1759, the provincial authorities of 
Massachusetts declare the 25th of October a public day 
of thanksgiving for the capture of Quebec. 

 

L’extrait suivant de l’« Ould Newbury: historical and 
biographical sketches’ fournit un exemple de comment 
ce jour-là se serait probablement passé à Amesbury. 

The following extracted from the “Ould Newbury: 
Historical and Biographical Sketches” provides an 
example of how that day would have probably transpired 
in Amesbury. 

(Traduction)  

 

« En 1759, Québec fut capturé, et les citoyens de 

Newbury eurent un jour de réjouissance. Un bœuf 

fut tué, correctement paré et grillé sur un gril 

énorme sur le terrain vacant au nord-ouest de cette 

salle de rencontre. » 

“In 1759, Quebec was captured, and the citizens of 

Newbury had a day of rejoicing. An ox was killed, 

properly dressed, and broiled on a huge gridiron on 

the vacant land on the northwesterly side of this 

meeting-house.” 
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Ce même livre rapporte que la petite vérole fit son 
apparition à Newbury en novembre 1759. L’épidémie 
sévit jusqu’en 1764, avant qu’elle ne cesse. Au cours de 
cette période 36 personnes de Newbury sont mortes, 
tous sauf deux d’entre elles, des adultes. 

The same book reports that smallpox made its 
appearance in Newbury in November 1759. The 
outbreak lasted until 1764 before it stopped. During that 
period thirty-six persons from Newbury died, all but two 
of them adults. 

 

Sur la base des recherches de Carmen Brisson 
(carmenb75@hotmail.com), nous pouvons 
maintenant affirmer qu’Elizabeth Bourgeois fille de 
Claude devait être une membre de la famille qui 
accompagna Claude lors de la déportation. 

Based on the research Carmen Brisson 
(carmenb75@hotmail.com) we can now state that 
Elizabeth Bourgeois daughter of Claude was a 
member of the family that accompanied Claude 
when he was deported. 

Carmen a identifié 5 éléments de preuve qui 
confirment qu’Élizabeth Bourgeois fille de Claude 
Bourgeois et Marie LeBlanc a épousé Polycarpe 
Robichaud au Massachusetts en 1759. 

Carmen has identified 5 points of evidence that 
confirm that Élizabeth Bourgeois daughter of Claude 
Bourgeois and Marie LeBlanc married Polycarpe 
Robichaud in Massachusetts in 1759. 

Les éléments de preuves sont ; The elements of proof are; 

1- lors de la réhabilitation du mariage de son union 
de Boston, l’acte au registre montre que Claude 
Bourgeois était présent au mariage original. 

1- at her wedding Rehabilitation of her Boston 
union to Polycarpe Robichaud, the record shows 
that Claude Bourgeois was present at the original 
marriage. 

2- son acte de décès montre qu’elle avait 93 ans, 
donc son année de naissance correspondrait 
exactement. De plus, Pierre Bourgeois, son 
neveu, fils de Germain est présent.  

2- her death record shows that she was 93 years 
old, so her year of birth would correspond 
exactly. In addition, Pierre Bourgeois, her 
nephew, son of Germain is present.  

3- Élizabeth, la jumelle d’Anastasie la fille de 
Claude, disparaît en 1759, probablement parce 
qu’elle épouse Polycarpe Robichaud en 1759. 

3- Élizabeth, the twin of Claude’s daughter 
Anastasie, disappeared in 1759, probably 
because she married Polycarpe Robichaud in 
1759. 

4- l’acte de baptême de sa fille Élisabeth Robichaud 
en 1773 indique que le parrain est Germain 
Bourgeois, le frère d’Élizabeth. 

4- the baptismal record of her daughter Élisabeth 
Robichaud in 1773, shows the godfather as being 
Germain Bourgeois, Élizabeth’s brother. 

5- l’acte de décès de Polycarpe Robichaud donne 
Amand, Germain et Amable Bourgeois comme 
témoins et les désigne comme ses beaux-frères. 

5- Polycarpe Robichaud’s death record, shows 
Amand, Germain and Amable Bourgeois as 
witnesses and designates them as his brothers-
in-law. 

Ce dernier élément montrant qu’Amand, Germain et 
Amable étaient les frères d’Élisabeth et qu’elle était 
la personne qui épousa Polycarpe Robichaud et non 
Elizabeth Bourgeois fille de Joseph Bourgeois et Anne 
(Aiméé) LeBlanc comme on le croyait déjà. 

This last element showing that Amand, Germain and 
Amable were Élisabeth’s brothers and that she was 
the person married Polycarpe Robichaud and not 
Elizabeth Bourgeois daughter of Joseph Bourgeois 
and Anne (Aiméé) LeBlanc has it was previously 
believed. 

Elle aurait eu 25 ans au moment de la déportation, ce 
qui correspondrait à l’âge d’une des filles prises par 
les “Selectmen” dans la pétition de Claude au 
gouverneur Phipps en mai 1756. 

She would have been 25 years of at the time of the 
deportation, which would correspond to the age of 
one of the daughters taken by the Selectmen in 
Claude’s petition to the governor Phipps in May of 
1756. 



Page 23 

Version 3.5 Date : 1 février / February 2023 
Copyright © 2016  Marc Bourgeois – Histoire-de-Bourgeois.ca - All rights reserved/Tout droit réservés 

 

« … lui a enlevé deux de ses filles, une âgée de 25 ans 

et l’autre de 18. » 

‘ … took away from him two of his daughters, one of 

the age of 25 years and the other of 18.’ 

 

Elizabeth Bourgeois, l’une des filles jumelles de Claude 
épouse Polycarpe Robichaud (fils de Joseph Robichaud et 
Marie Forest). Compte tenu de l’environnement religieux 
et de l’absence de prêtre catholique, la cérémonie doit 
avoir été exécutée par François Landry qui est montré 
présent à la cérémonie originale et connu pour avoir 
présidé la cérémonie de l’union d’Abel Bourgeois et 
Marguerite Doucet en 1762. Le mariage a été réhabilité 
à L’Assomption, Québec en 1767. 

Elizabeth Bourgeois, one of Claude’s twin daughters 
marries Polycarpe Robichaud (son of Joseph Robichaud 
and Marie Forest). Given the religious surroundings and 
the lack of Catholic priests, the ceremony must have 
been performed by François Landry who is shown to be 
present at the original ceremony and known to have 
presided over the ceremony of Abel Bourgeois’ union to 
Marguerite Doucet in 1762. The marriage was 
rehabilitated in L’Assomption, Quebec in 1767. 

 

Extrait du registre paroissial de l’Assomption : Extract from the Assomption parish register: 

 (Translation) 

 

«…lesquels ayant été enlevés de l’Acadie à Boston 

ou il auraient été prisonniers environ douze ans se 

soient pris l’un de l’autre pour mari et femme en 

présence de Claude Bourgeois, Tite Robcihaud, 

Michel Robichau et François Landry. Les quels 

Polycarpe Robichau et Élizabeth Bourgeois auraient 

eu de cette union quatre enfants dont une fille 

nommée Ursule âgé de sept ans et deux mois, in 

garçon âgé de cinq ans et près de huit mois, un 

garçon défunt a l’âge de trois ans et cinq mois, un 

garçon âgé de huit mois et neuf jours, qui auraient 

été présent et reconnue devant nous l’église, 

missionnaire de St-Pierre du Portage sur la rivière 

l’Assomption avec les dits conjoints. Les pères et 

mères des dits conjoints morts ou absents...» 

"…whom having been taken from Acadia to Boston 

where they would have been prisoners for about 

twelve years took each other as husband and wife in 

the presence of Claude Bourgeois, Tite Robcihaud, 

Michel Robichau and François Landry. They, 

Polycarpe Robichau and Élizabeth Bourgeois would 

have had of this union four children including a girl 

named Ursule aged seven years and two months, in 

boy aged five years and nearly eight months, a 

deceased boy at the age of three years and five 

months, a boy aged eight months and nine days, who 

have been present and recognized before us the 

church, missionary of St-Pierre du Portage on the 

l'Assomption River with the said spouses. The fathers 

and mothers of the said spouse’s dead or absent..." 
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D - Réhabilitation du mariage d'Élizabeth Bourgeois et Polycarpe Thibodeau 

1760 
 

En 1760, la petite vérole fit son apparition à Amesbury, 
causant un état d’alarme général chez les habitants. Des 
mesures de précaution furent prises et deux maisons de 
lutte antiparasitaire furent fournies, une dans l’ouest et 
l’autre à l’extrémité est de la ville. La maison de la veuve 
Sarah Currier fut utilisée dans la paroisse de l’Ouest et 
celle de Daniel Martin dans la paroisse de l’Est. Ichabod 
March fut choisi constable spécial à l’Ouest et Eliphalet 
Martin pour l’Est,  

In 1760, smallpox made its appearance in Amesbury, 
causing general alarm among the local inhabitants. 
Precautionary measures were taken, and two pest-
houses were provided, one at the west end and one at 
the east end of the town. Widow Sarah Currier's house 
was taken at the West parish, and Daniel Martin's at the 
East parish. Ichabod March was chosen special constable 
at the west end and Eliphalet Martin at the east end,  

(Traduction)  

 

« pour prendre grand soin de voir aux gens qui ont 

la petite vérole et trouver les infirmières nécessaires 

pour l’aide et le soutien de ces malades, et le cas 

échéant, pour les déménager dans les maisons que 

la ville a fournies à cet effet. » 

"to take good care and see to the people that have 

the small pox and to press nurses necessary for the 

help and support of those sick, if need be, and to 

remove them into houses that the town have 

provided for that purpose." 

 

Le deuxième plus jeune des garçons Bourgeois, Amable 
épousa Marie Louise Richard (fille de Jean Baptiste 
Richard et Marguerite Robichaud). Étant donné 
l’environnement religieux et l’absence de prêtre 
catholique, le mariage a été réalisé par Louis Robichaud 
(voir ma monographie « Louis Robichaud Prêtre Laique 

The second youngest of the Bourgeois boys, Amable 
Bourgeois married Marie Louise Richard (daughter of 
Jean Baptiste and Marguerite Robichaud). Given the 
religious surrounding and the lack of Catholic priest, the 
marriage was performed by Louis Robichaud (see my 
monograph “Louis Robichaud Lay Priest of 

https://histoire-de-bourgeois.ca/Reference/Monograph/Louis_Robichaud_-_Pretre_laique_du_Massachusetts.pdf
https://histoire-de-bourgeois.ca/Reference/Monograph/Louis_Robichaud_-_Pretre_laique_du_Massachusetts.pdf
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du Massachusetts »). Le mariage a été réhabilité à 
l’Assomption, au Québec, en 1774. 

Massachusetts”). The marriage was rehabilitated in 
L’Assomption, Quebec in 1774. 

 

Extrait du registre paroissial de l’Assomption : Extract from the Assomption parish register: 

 (Translation) 

 

«…lesquels auraient été conduits de l’Acadie en 

Nouvelle-Angleterre pour dix-neuf ans. Les Parties, 

Amable Bourgeois et Louise Richard; où ils ont été 

mariés par un laïque nommé Louis Robichaud en 

présence de Jean Gilbert (Albert) et Victor (?) 

Richard, Jean Dugas, Louis Robichaud.  Lesdites 

parties n’ont point eu d’enfant; les pères et mères 

des 2 conjoints présents ou absents...» 

"…who were taken from Acadia and transported to 

New England for nineteen years. The Parties, 

Amable Bourgeois and Louise Richard; where they 

were married by a layman named Louis Robichaud 

in the presence of Jean Gilbert (Albert) and Victor 

(?) Richard, Jean Dugas, Louis Robichaud.  The 

parties have no children; the fathers and mothers of 

the 2 spouses present or absent..." 

 

 

E - Réhabilition du mariage d'amable Bourgeois et Louise Richard 

 

Cette entrée semble indiquer qu’aucun membre de la 
famille d’Amable n’était présent au mariage original. 

This entry seems to indicate that none of Amable’s family 
was present at the original marriage. 

Tel qu’ordonnés par le Conseil de la province en 1757, les 
Selectmen d’Amesbury présentèrent enfin une liste des 
Français neutres résidant à Amesbury. Ils étaient : 

As previously directed by the Council of the province in 
1757, the Selectmen of Amesbury finally submitted a list 
of the French Neutrals residing in Amesbury. They were: 

https://histoire-de-bourgeois.ca/Reference/Monograph/Louis_Robichaud_-_Pretre_laique_du_Massachusetts.pdf
https://histoire-de-bourgeois.ca/Reference/Monograph/Louis_Robichaud_-_Pretre_laique_du_Massachusetts.pdf
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Ville : Amesbury Age 
Bausway = Bourgeois 

 
1- Clodil (Claude) Bausway  64 
2- Margaret, son épouse  51, Maladive 
3- Abel (Amand) 25 
4- Abab (Amable) 22 
5- Jeremy (Germain) 10, Maladif 
6- Margaret  (Marguerite) 19 
7- Attala (Nathalie) 17 

 

Town: Amesbury Age 
Bausway = Bourgeois 

 
1- Clodil (Claude) Bausway  64 
2- Margaret, his wife  51, weakly 
3- Abel (Amand) 25 
4- Abab (Amable) 22 
5- Jeremy (Germain) 10, weakly 
6- Margaret  (Marguerite) 19 
7- Attala (Nathalie) 17 

Les noms indiqués entre parenthèses sont ceux inscrits 
au dossier baptismal original basé sur l’âge inscrit dans le 
rapport des Français neutres vivant à Amesbury en date 
du 20 juillet 1760. 

The names shown in brackets are those shown on the 
baptismal records based on the age recorded in the 
report of French Neutral living in Amesbury dated 20 July 
1760.  

 

Remarque : les âges de Claude et Marguerite utilisés 
dans cette liste correspondent exactement à l’âge 
documenté de leurs généalogies familiales officielles. 

Note: the ages of Claude and Margaret used in this 
list correspond exactly to their documented age from 
known official family genealogies. 

Ayant épousé Polycarpe Robichaud, Elizabeth 
Bourgeois n’est pas comptée comme un membre de 
la famille. 

Having married Polycarpe Robichaud, Elizabeth 
Bourgeois is not counted a member of the family. 

 

Cette liste soulève quelques questions : 

Étant donné que nous savons qu’Élizabeth était l’une des 
filles mentionnées dans la pétition de 1756 de Claude, 
qui était l’autre fille ?  

This list raises a few questions: 

Given that we know Élizabeth was one of the daughters 
mentioned in Claude’s 1756 petition, who was the other 
daughter? 

Des quatre garçons connus pour avoir été déporté vers 
le Massachusetts (c.-à-d. Abel, Amand, Amable et 
Germain), seulement trois sont inclus sur cette liste. Où 
était le quatrième ? 

Of the four boys known to have been deported to 
Massachusetts (i.e., Abel, Amand, Amable et Germain) 
only three show-up on this list. Where was the fourth? 

Aucune des filles inscrites sur cette liste ne correspond à 
l’âge de la deuxième fille décrites dans la pétition de 
Claude en 1756 (c.-à-d., âgées 18 en 1756, ce qui 
correspondrait à 22 ans en 1760). Bien que nous sachions 
que l’âge de l’Élizabeth correspond exactement à celui 
d’une des filles décrites dans la pétition de 1756, nous 
devons supposer que l’âge utilisé pour la deuxième fille 
est erroné. 

Neither of the daughters included in this list corresponds 
to the age of the second daughter described in Claude’s 
1756 petition (i.e., age 18 in 1756 which would 
correspond to ages 22 in 1760).  While we know that the 
Élizabeth’s age corresponds exactly to that of one of the 
daughters described in the 1756 petition we must 
assume that the age used for the second daughter was 
then wrong.  

Si nous supposons que l’âge utilisé dans la pétition a été 
en quelque sorte gonflé par trois ans, nous pourrions 
extrapoler que la fille dans la pétition était en fait 
Margaret, mais il est difficile de croire que Claude ne 
savait pas l’âge de ses enfants. Il est toutefois possible 
que le transcripteur de la pétition ait gonflé le chiffre afin 

If we assume that the age used in the petition was 
somehow inflated by three years, we can extrapolate 
that the girl in the petition was in fact Margaret, but it is 
hard to believe Claude did not know the age of his 
children. It is, however, also possible that the transcriber 
of the petition inflated the age to suggest that Margaret 
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de suggérer que Margaret n’était pas une enfant de 14 
ans au moment de la pétition pour disculper d’une 
manière ou d’une autre les actions des « Selectmen ». 

was not a child of 14 years of age at the time of the 
petition to somehow exculpate the actions of the 
Selectmen. 

Si ce n’est pas le cas, il aurait dû y avoir au moins une 
autre fille qui a été expulsée avec la famille. Les 
prochaines filles aînées de Claude selon la généalogie 
familiale connue auraient été Gertrude, qui aurait eu 
environ 17 ans en 1756. Aucun enregistrement, autre 
que celui de sa naissance, n’a été trouvé pour elle. Bien 
que l’âge corresponde directement à celui mentionné 
dans la pétition, nous devons nous interroger sur le fait 
qu’il s’agit en fait de la fille décrite dans la pétition 
comme étant qu’un seul des six enfants mentionnés dans 
la pétition est manquant dans la liste de 1760 et nous 
savons maintenant qu’il s’agit d’Élizabeth. Si 
effectivement une autre fille a été déportée avec la 
famille, ou serait-elle allée ?  

If this is not the case, then there would have had to been 
at least one other daughter that got deported with the 
family. Claude’s next eldest daughters based on the 
known family genealogy would have been Gertrude, who 
would have been aged about 17 years old in 1756. No 
records, other than her birth records have been located. 
Although the age corresponds directly with that 
mentioned in the petition, we must question the fact 
that this is in fact the daughter described as only one of 
the six children mentioned in the petition is missing in the 
1760 list and we now know that to be Elizabeth. If indeed 
another daughter was deported with the family, where 
did she go? 

Notre première question reste sans réponse. Our first question remains unanswered. 

Quant aux garçons de la famille, nous savons d’après les 
registres paroissiaux de Bécancour et de l’Assomption, 
au Québec, qu’Abel, Armand (Amand) et Amable sont 
tous mariés par des laïcs au Massachusetts, durant la 
période d’expulsion. Germain (Jeremy), le plus jeune, est 
clairement identifié dans la liste de 1760 et est retrouvé 
par la suite à St-Jacques l’Achigan où il se marie en 1776. 

As for the boys in the family, we know from church 
records in Bécancour and l’Assomption, Quebec that 
Abel, Armand (Amand) and Amable were all married by 
lay people in Massachusetts, during the period of 
deportation.  Germain (Jeremy), the youngest, is clearly 
identified in the 1760 list and subsequently shows up in 
St-Jacques l’Achigan where he marries in 1776. 

Ce qui nous laisse les trois garçons aînés. Bien qu’Abel 
semble être clairement identifié sans la liste de 1760, 
l’âge utilisé correspond exactement à celui d’Armand 
(Amand). Le nom suivant est Abab dont l’âge correspond 
à celui d’Amable. 

That leaves us with the three oldest boys. Although Abel 
seems to be clearly identified in the 1760 list, the age 
used corresponds exactly to that of Armand (Amand). 
The next name is Abab whose age corresponds to that of 
Amable. 

Bien que cela semble indiquer que soit Abel ou Amable 
n’est pas inclus dans les 6 enfants décrits dans la pétition 
de Claude en 1756, il n’est pas évident que cela est en fait 
le cas. 

Although this seems to indicate that either Abel or 
Amable is not included in the original 6 children 
described in Claude’s 1756 petition, it is far from clear 
that this is in fact the case. 

La réhabilitation de mariage d’Amable indique qu’il est 
déporté à Boston et que le mariage laïque a été officié 
par Louis Robichaud, qui nous savons avoir vécu à 
Cambridge, Massachusetts (voir ma monographie 
« Louis Robichaud Prêtre Laique du Massachusetts ») et 
qu’aucun membre sa famille était présents au 
mariage. Bien qu’aucune date précise ne soit donnée 
pour le mariage, les sources indiquent qu’il a eu lieu 
en 1760. 

Amable’s marriage rehabilitation indicates that he was 
deported to Boston and that his lay marriage was 
officiated by Louis Robichaud who we know lived in 
Cambridge, Massachusetts (see my monograph “Louis 
Robichaud Lay Priest of Massachusetts”) and that no 
family members were present at the marriage. 
Although no specific date is given for the marriage, 
sources indicate that it occurred in 1760. 

S’il a en effet été marié en 1760 à Cambridge, il est tout 
à fait possible qu’il ne fût pas avec sa famille lorsque la 
liste de 1760 a été effectuée. Il est, en effet possible qu’il 
n’ait jamais vécu avec ses parents étant donné qu’il ne 

If he did in fact get married in 1760 in Cambridge, it is 
entirely possible that he was not with his family when the 
1760 list was made. He may, in fact, have never been 

https://histoire-de-bourgeois.ca/Reference/Monograph/Louis_Robichaud_-_Pretre_laique_du_Massachusetts.pdf
https://histoire-de-bourgeois.ca/Reference/Monograph/Louis_Robichaud_-_Pretre_laique_du_Massachusetts.pdf
https://histoire-de-bourgeois.ca/Reference/Monograph/Louis_Robichaud_-_Pretre_laique_du_Massachusetts.pdf
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fait référence qu’à Boston sur la réhabilitation de son 
mariage. 

living with his parents given that he only references 
Boston in his marriage rehabilitation. 

D’après la réhabilitation de son mariage, nous savons 
qu’Abel s’est marié en 1762 dans un mariage laïque 
officié par François Landry. Certains croient que ce 
mariage a eu lieu au Connecticut, où il apparait sur la liste 
de 1763 des Français neutres souhaitant se rendre en 
France, mais les parents de sa femme semblent avoir 
vécu à Salisbury, à quelques kilomètres d’Amesbury, ce 
qui semblerait indiquer qu’Abel était en fait avec ses 
parents en 1760. 

According to the rehabilitation of his marriage, we know 
that Abel got married in 1762 in a lay wedding officiated 
François Landry. It is believed that this wedding took 
place in Connecticut where he is shown on the 1763 
listing of French Neutrals wishing to go to France, but his 
wife’s parents seem to have lived in Salisbury a few 
kilometres from Amesbury, which would indicate that 
Abel was in fact with his parents in 1760. 

Selon l’inscription au registre pour la réhabilitation du 
mariage d’Abel en 1762, la cérémonie laïque originale a 
été officiée par François Landry en Nouvelle-Angleterre 
qui lui a également été montré comme étant présent au 
mariage d’Élizabeth avec Polycarpe Robichaud en 1759, 
ce qui semble indiquer qu’il était au Massachusetts au 
moment de son mariage.  

According to the registry entry for rehabilitation of Abel’s 
1762 wedding, the original lay ceremony was officiated 
by François Landry in New England who was also is 
shown as being present at Élizabeth’s marriage to 
Polycarpe Robichaud in 1759 which seems to indicate 
that he was in Massachusetts at the time of his marriage.  

Étant donné que sa réhabilitation de mariage ne 
mentionne que François Landry comme officiant et étant 
donc présent au mariage laïc et personne d’autre, nous 
ne sommes pas en mesure de déterminer si ses parents 
ou tout autre membre de la famille était présent. 

Given that his marriage rehabilitation only mentions 
François Landry as officiating and thus being present at 
the lay wedding and no one else, we are unable to 
determine if his parents or any other member of the 
family where present. 

Était-il avec ses parents en 1760, mais est parti peu de 
temps après en direction du Connecticut ou il se trouve 
en 1763 ? 

Was he with his parents in 1760, but left shortly 
thereafter heading ultimately to Connecticut where he is 
found in 1763? 

Encore une fois notre question demeure sans réponse. Again, our question remains unanswered. 

Comme nous pouvons le constater, il est très difficile de 
répondre à nos questions, compte tenu de l’écart entre 
les noms et les âges fournis dans la pétition de Claude et 
la liste des Français neutres de 1760. 

As we can see, it is exceedingly difficult to answer our 
questions given the discrepancy in the names and the 
ages provided in Claude’s petition and the 1760 French 
Neutral listing. 

 

Remarque : La liste des Français neutres d’Amesbury 
de 1760 montre également Margaret, épouse de 
Claude et Jeremy, son fils, comme étant maladif, 
peut-être le résultat de l’épidémie de petite vérole. 

Note: The 1760 listing of the Amesbury French 
Neutrals also shows Margaret, Claude’s wife, and 
Jeremy, his son, as weakly, possibly the result of the 
smallpox outbreak. 

 

Le 6 août 1760, les « Selectmen » d’Amesbury font 
rapport au Conseil provincial que conformément à la 
directive du Conseil (date non fournie), ils ont enlevé 
Joseph LeBlong (LeBlanc) et son épouse Margaret 
d’Amesbury et les ont envoyés à Methuen. Selon certains 
documents, ce Joseph LeBlanc serait le fils de Pierre 
LeBlanc, dont la famille a été exilée à Westboro, 
Massachusetts. 

On August 6, 1760, the Selectmen of Amesbury reported 
to the Provincial Council that pursuant to the directive of 
the Council (date not provided), they had removed 
Joseph LeBlong (LeBlanc) and his wife Margaret from 
Amesbury and sent them to Methuen. According to 
some documentation, this Joseph LeBlanc would be the 
son of Pierre LeBlanc whose family was exiled to 
Westboro, Massachusetts. 
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Bien que déclarée en août, cette famille n’est pas 
présente dans la liste des Français neutres à Amesbury 
daté de juillet 1760. Cela nous porte à croire que la 
famille avait été enlevée quelque temps plus tôt, peut-
être dès 1757, quand les comptes des « Selectmen » 
soumis aux autorités provinciales montrent une famille 
de 8 plutôt que les 10 Français neutres que la ville avait 
déclaré héberger initialement. 

Although reported in August this family was not present 
in the listing of French Neutrals in Amesbury dated July 
1760. We must assume that the family had been 
removed some time earlier possibly as early as 1757 
when Selectmen accounts submitted to the provincial 
authorities showed one family of 8 rather than the 10 
French Neutrals that the city had originally declared 
hosting. 

En septembre 1760, Montréal capitule à James Murray 
et les Sept-Nations du Canada, les alliés amérindiens de 
la France, et parvient à une entente avec les Britanniques 
à Oswegatchie marquant la fin de la Guerre de la 
Conquête. 

In September 1760, Montreal capitulates to James 
Murray and the Seven Nations of Canada, France’s Indian 
allies, and comes to a term of agreement with the British 
at Oswegatchie signalling the end of the French and 
Indian War. 

La guerre terminée, la menace perçue posée par les 
Français neutres diminue et les restrictions sur la 
circulation des Français neutres furent assouplies, car les 
règlements n’étaient pas appliqués rigoureusement. 

The war over, the perceive threat paused by the French 
Neutrals diminishes and the restrictions on the 
movement of the French Neutrals was relaxed as 
regulation were not vigorously enforced.  

 

Amesbury, Massachusett 

(1761) 

 

La petite vérole persistait toujours dans la ville 
d’Amesbury. Lors d’une réunion municipale tenue le 
20 mai les « Selectmen » ont « voté pour fournir une 
maison pour recevoir les personnes qui pourraient avoir 
ou auront la petite vérole dans ladite ville ». Ils ont 
également « voté pour ériger immédiatement une 
maison sur un terrain de Coll Bagleys près de Red Oak 
Hill,… pour recevoir les malades ». Abner Currier, Daniel 
Nichols et Enoch Sargent furent choisis pour construire la 
maison. 

Smallpox still lingered in the town of Amesbury. At a 
town meeting held on May 20th, the Selectmen “voted 
to provide a house to receive such persons as may or 
shall have the small pock in said town.”  They also “voted 
to erect a house immediately on Coll Bagleys land near 
Red Oak Hill … to receive those sick.”  Abner Currier, 
Daniel Nichols and Enoch Sargent were chosen to build 
the house. 

Il a aussi été voté que les « Selectmen » empruntent 
cinquante dollars pour payer pour les soins infirmiers des 
personnes avec la petite vérole. La veuve Sarah Currier, 
dont la maison a été prise l’année précédente, comme 
maison pour la lutte antiparasitaire a reçu 25 £ pour le 
logement et soin infirmier des patients avec la petite 
vérole.  

It was also voted that the Selectmen borrow fifty dollars 
to pay for nursing those persons with smallpox. Widow 
Sarah Currier, whose house was taken the previous year 
for a pesthouse received, £25 for the boarding and 
nursing of smallpox patients. 

Selon plusieurs historiens, Claude Bourgeois serait 
décédé entre le 20 mai 1760, lorsque la liste des Français 
neutres a été effectuée et 1763 lors du recensement de 
Massachusetts effectué dans le cadre de la préparation 
du traité entre les Français et les Anglais dans laquelle il 
n’apparaît pas. S’il est décédé à Amesbury, sa mort 
pouvait être liée à l’épidémie de petite vérole, mais 
aucune trace de son décès ou enterrement ne fut 

According to several historians, Claude Bourgeois is 
believed to have died sometime between May 20, 1760, 
when the listing of French Neutrals was made and 1763 
when the Massachusetts census carried out as part of 
preparation for the treaty between the French and the 
English does not list him. If he died in Amesbury, his 
death may have been related to the smallpox epidemic, 
but no record of his death or burial can be found, except 

http://thecanadianencyclopedia.com/articles/seven-nations
http://thecanadianencyclopedia.com/articles/treaty-of-oswegatchie-1760


Page 30 

Version 3.5 Date : 1 février / February 2023 
Copyright © 2016  Marc Bourgeois – Histoire-de-Bourgeois.ca - All rights reserved/Tout droit réservés 

trouvée, sauf une mention retrouvée dans les minutes 
des « Selectmen » que je commenterai plus tard.  

for one mention found in the minutes of the Selectmen 
which I will comment later. 

 

Remarque : Il convient de noter qu’aucun membre 
de la famille de Claude n’apparaître sur le 
recensement du Massachusetts de 1763. J’aborderai 
ceci plus loin dans le texte. 

Note: It should be noted that no members of Claude’s 
family appear on the 1763 Massachusetts census. I 
will discuss this further later. 

De plus, comme on l’a découvert dans des recherches 
ultérieures, Claude a été inclus dans la liste des 
Français neutres du Connecticut souhaitant aller en 
France de 1763, mais n’est pas inclus avec ses fils, 
Abel et Amand, sur la liste du Massachusetts de 1764 
de ceux qui souhaitent aller à Québec, indiquant qu’il 
pourrait être décédé entre ces deux dates et peut-
être dans le Connecticut. 

Also, as discovered in subsequent research, Claude 
was included on the Connecticut list of French 
neutrals wishing to go to France of 1763, but was not 
included with his sons, Abel and Amand, on the 
Massachusetts list of 1764 of those wishing to go to 
Québec, indicating that he may have passed away 
between these two dates and possibly in 
Connecticut. 

Sa présence sur la liste du Connecticut de 1763 
explique également son absence sur la liste du 
Massachusetts des Français neutres souhaitant se 
rendre en France à pareille date. 

His presence on the 1763 Connecticut list also 
explains his absence from the Massachusetts list of 
French Neutrals wishing to go to France on the same 
date. 

 

La nécessité d’une maison d’aumônerie ou d’un 
établissement semblable était depuis longtemps jugée 
nécessaire, car la pratique de loger les pauvres à l’endroit 
le moins cher donnait mauvaise satisfaction à toutes les 
parties concernées. Un comité formé l’année précédente 
pour envisager ce qu’il faudrait faire avec les « personnes 
pauvres, oisives et paresseuses » fait le rapport suivant à 
la ville le 19e jour de février : 

The need of an almshouse or some similar establishment 
had long been felt necessary, as the custom of boarding 
the poor at the cheapest place was giving poor 
satisfaction to all concerned. A committee struck the 
previous year to consider what should be done with the 
poor, idle and lazy persons made the following report to 
the town on the 19th day of February: 

(Traduction)  

 

« Après réflexion sur ladite affaire, nous sommes 

convenus à l’unanimité qu’il est préférable pour la 

ville, aussitôt qu’il est possible, de fournir un endroit 

adéquat pour la réception de toutes ces personnes 

pauvres, oisives ou paresseuses qui selon le jugement 

des superviseurs des pauvres de ladite ville devraient 

y être envoyés; et ils sont aussi d’avis que des 

superviseurs des pauvres soient choisis annuellement; 

et qu’une ou plusieurs personnes soient désignées 

comme maître ou superviseur de ladite maison, qui 

recevrait sous sa garde toutes les personnes qui lui 

seraient envoyées par les superviseurs des pauvres et 

qu’il prendrait soin que ces personnes soient bien 

employées à des affaires qu’il jugera convenables; et 

il sont également d’avis que les superviseurs des 

pauvres fournissent tout matériel que le maître ou 

surveillant de ladite maison jugera nécessaire pour 

employer ces personnes sous sa garde, il donnera un 

"After some consideration on said affair, we are 

unanimously agreed that it is best for the town, as 

soon as may be, to provide some proper place for the 

reception of all such poor, idle, or lazy persons as in 

the judgment of the overseers of the poor of said town 

shall judge ought to be sent there; and they are also 

further of opinion that there be overseers of the poor 

yearly chosen, and are further of opinion that some 

one person or persons be chosen and appointed as 

master or overseer of said house, and there be 

received under his care all such persons as shall be 

sent to him by the overseers of the poor, and to take 

care that such persons be well employed in such 

business as he shall think proper; and are also of 

opinion that the overseers of the poor provide such 

material as the master or overseer of said house shall 

judge necessary for employing all such persons as 

shall be committed to his care, he giving a receipt for 
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reçu pour tous ces matériaux qu’il recevra et de même 

à chaque année, il rendra compte au superviseur des 

pauvres de chacune des personnes à sa charge, ainsi 

qu’un compte des frais pour leur séjour dans la 

maison; également que les surveillants des pauvres 

soumettent l’ensemble des comptes à la ville chaque 

année. Tout ce qui est très humblement soumis. » 

Signé par Thos. Rowell, Stephen Bartlett, fils, 

Ephraim Weed, W.M. Moulton, Stephen Sargent, 

David Merrill, John Bagley, le Comité. 

all such materials as he shall receive, and likewise 

that he yearly render particular account to the said 

overseer of each and every one of their joining, as well 

as an account of what charge he has been at; also that 

the overseers of the poor lay there accounts of the 

whole before the town yearly. All which is most 

humbly submitted." 

Signed by Thos. Rowell, Stephen Bartlett, Jr., 

Ephraim Weed, W.M. Moulton, Stephen Sargent, 

David Merrill, John Bagley, committee. 

 

Ce rapport a été accepté, mais aucune suite ne fut 
donnée autre que choisir certains citoyens pour recevoir 
ces personnes identifiées dans le rapport. 

This report was accepted but was never acted upon 
other than to choose some citizen to receive those 
persons identified in the report.  

 

1762 
 

Un examen des documents historiques « Vital Records of 
Amesbury, Massachusetts, to the end of year 1849, 
Published by The Topsfield Historical Society, Topsfield, 
Mass., 1913 » indique que seulement 16 personnes sont 
mortes entre novembre 1759 et décembre 1762, date à 
laquelle l’épidémie à Amesbury semble avoir cessé. 
Parmi ceux-ci au moins une est décédée au combat au 
Lac George. On n’indique pas si les autres décès étaient 
reliés à la petite vérole. 

A review of the “Vital Records of Amesbury, 
Massachusetts, to the end of year 1849, Published by 
The Topsfield Historical Society, Topsfield, Mass., 1913” 
shows that only 16 people died from November 1759 to 
December 1762, when the Amesbury epidemic seems to 
have ceased. Of these at least one died in combat at Lake 
George. It is not clear if any of the remaining deaths were 
related to smallpox. 

La guerre maintenant terminée, la ville d’Amesbury 
redirige son attention vers les projets d’infrastructure à 
partir de 1761 avec la démolition de la maison de réunion 
au presbytère, construite en 1715, et son 
déménagement à « Sandy Hill », où un terrain fut acheté 
en 1757. Après la reconstruction, elle était beaucoup plus 
grande, et bien qu’une construction simple, à l’exception 
d’un porche du côté ouest, elle était d’une meilleure 
finition que le bâtiment précédent. 

With the war over, the town of Amesbury turned its 
attention to infrastructure projects starting in 1761 with 
the pulling down of the meeting house at the parsonage, 
which was built in 1715, and its removal to Sandy Hill, 
where a lot was bought in 1757. When rebuilt, it was very 
much larger, and although a plain building, except for a 
porch on the west end, it was of a better finish than the 
previous building. 

La ville a également rénové le débarcadère de la ville à la 
rivière et a réparé les routes menant à la ville. 

The town also refurbished the town landing on the river 
and repaired the highway leading into the town. 

Il est concevable que les hommes de la famille Bourgeois 
aient travaillé sur un de ces projets afin de subvenir aux 
besoins de la famille. 

It is conceivable that the men of the Bourgeois family 
worked on one of these projects to support the family. 

Abel Bourgeois épousa Marguerite Doucet (fille de 
Joseph et Ann Bourg) vivant à Salisbury, un village à 
environ 6 km d’Amesbury. Compte tenu de 
l’environnement religieux et de l’absence de prêtres 
catholiques, le mariage fut célébré par François Landry. 
Le mariage a été réhabilité plus tard à Bécancour, au 
Québec. 

Abel Bourgeois married Marguerite Doucet (daughter of 
Joseph and Ann Bourg) then living in Salisbury, a village 
approximately 4 miles from Amesbury. Given the 
religious surroundings and the lack of Catholic priest the 
marriage was performed by François Landry. The 
marriage was later rehabilitated in Bécancour, Québec. 
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La proximité entre Amesbury et Salisbury semble ici 
suggérer qu’Abel était en fait avec ses parents en 1762, 
mais cela est loin d’être évident étant donné le peu 
d’informations que nous pouvons glaner de sa 
réhabilitation du mariage en 1767. 

The proximity between Amesbury and Salisbury would 
here seem to suggest that Abel was in fact with his 
parents in 1762, but this is far from evident given what 
little information we can glean from his 1767 marriage 
rehabilitation. 

 

Voici un extrait du registre de l’église de Bécancour 
revalidant leur mariage. 

The following is an extract from the Bécancour church 
record revalidating their marriage. 

 (Translation) 

 

« … réhabilité le mariage entre Joseph Bourgeois et 

Marguerite Doucet, tous deux Acadiens, lesquels 

avaient été mariés en Angleterre 12 par François 

Landry et ne s’étant pas découvert d’empêchement au-

dit mariage… en présence de François Lagrave et 

Antoine Sabourin… » 

"... rehabilitated the marriage between Joseph 

Bourgeois and Marguerite Doucet, both Acadian, who 

had been married in England 13 by François Landry 

and having not discovered any impediment to the said 

marriage … in the presence of François Lagrave and 

Antoine Sabourin… » 

 

Aucune mention faite des témoins lors de la cérémonie 
de laïcs originale, s’il y en a eu, autre que François Landry 
qui a présidé la cérémonie. Encore une fois, aucun 
membre de la famille ne semble être présent au mariage 
laïque de la Nouvelle-Angleterre. 

There is no mention made of the witnesses at the original 
lay ceremony if there were any other than François 
Landry who presided over the ceremony. Again, no 
members of the family seem to be present at the original 
New England lay marriage. 

 

 

 
12 Devrait être Nouvelle-Angleterre 
13 Should be New-England 
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F - Rehabilitation du mariage de Joseph Abel Bourgeois et Marguerite Doucet  

Rehabilitation of the Marriage of Joseph Abel Bourgeois and Marguerite Doucet 

1763 
 

Le 10 février 1763, les Britanniques, Espagnols et 
Français signent le Traité de Paris qui fait de toute de 
l’Amérique du Nord une colonie britannique à 
l’exception des îles de Saint-Pierre-et-Miquelon, au large 
de la côte sud de Terre-Neuve, qui restent un territoire 
français. 

On 10 February 1763 the British, Spanish and French sign 
the Treaty of Paris which made all of North America as a 
British colony with the exception of the Islands of Saint 
Pierre and Miquelon off the southern shore of 
Newfoundland, which remain a French territory. 

Avec cette signature du traité, après 7 ans d’exil, les 
Français neutres ne sont plus considérés comme une 
menace et la pleine liberté de circulation semble être 
rétablie. 

With this signing of the treaty, after 7 years of exile, 
French Neutrals are no longer seen as a threat, so full 
freedom of movement seems to be re-established. 

À Amesbury, le sujet d’une maison de travail demeurait 
une préoccupation et les « Selectmen » reçurent l’ordre 
de consulter la ville Salisbury en ce qui concerne un 
programme à frais partagés pour construire une maison 
de travail, mais il n’y a aucun intérêt de la part de 
Salisbury. Les autres villes avoisinantes n’étaient elles 

In Amesbury, the subject of a union workhouse remained 
a concern, and the Selectmen were ordered to consult 
with Salisbury in regard to a joint plan to build a 
workhouse, but they found no support. Other adjoining 
towns were also not interested in the project. Finding no 
other resource, the selectmen were instructed to hire a 
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aussi pas intéressées au projet. Ne trouvant aucune autre 
ressource, on ordonne aux « Selectmen » de louer une 
maison pour les pauvres de la ville. Le système de liaison 
sous contrat des pauvres aurait obtenu mauvaise 
réputation, et les gens étaient déterminés à l’abolir. 
Obtenir une maison n’était cependant, pas évident, et en 
septembre la ville a choisi un Comité spécial chargé 
d’acquérir un emplacement dans un endroit commode 
et déménager la charpente de la maison antiparasitaire 
de Red Oak Hill, à cet endroit, pour être utilisé comme 
maison des pauvres. 

house for the town poor. The system of selling or binding 
out the poor had evidently come into bad repute, and the 
people were determined to abolish it. To obtain a house 
was, however, no easy matter, and in September the 
meeting chose a special committee to procure a location 
in some convenient place and remove the frame of the 
pest-house from Red Oak Hill to that spot, for a 
poorhouse. 

Il ne semble pas, toutefois, que même ce plan ait été mis 
en œuvre. 

It does not appear, however, that even this plan was 
carried into effect. 

Des recensements furent préparés pour tous les 
territoires de la Nouvelle-Angleterre en guise d’appui aux 
négociations du Traité en Europe. Les documents du 
Massachusetts intitulés « Liste générale des familles 
Acadiennes actuellement répandues à la Nouvelle-
Angleterre, Gouvernement de Boston, Massachusetts de 
Province » et datés du 14 août 1763 ne contiennent 
aucune référence à Claude Bourgeois ou à tout autre 
membre de sa famille. Cette liste fut accompagnée d’une 
lettre signée par Paul Landry et Charles Trahan déclarant; 

Censuses were prepared for all the New-England 
territories in support of the Treaty negotiation in Europe.  
The Massachusetts documents titled “Liste générale des 
familles acadiennes actuellement répandues à la 
Nouvelle-Angleterre, gouvernement de Boston, province 
de Massachusetts” and dated 14th August 1763 contains 
no reference to Claude Bourgeois or any other member 
of his family. This list was accompanied by a letter signed 
by Paul Landry and Charles Trahan stating; 

 (Translation) 

 

« Nous soussignés anciens habitants de l’Acadie, 

certifions que tous les dénommés de la liste ci-dessus 

sont vivants et veulent retourner en France, ce qu’ils 

nous ont manifesté en nous envoyant chacun la liste 

de leurs familles qu’ils ont signée et desquelles listes 

nous avons formé la présente, en foi de quoi nous 

avons signé à Boston le 14 août 1763. » 

"We undersigned previous resident of l'Acadie, certify 

that the named persons specified in the list above are 

alive and with the purpose of returning to France, that 

which they manifested by sending us each the list of 

their families, that they have signed, and which lists 

formed basis for the present list. In witness whereof 

we signed in Boston on August 14, 1763." 

 

On ne sait pourquoi aucun membre de la famille de 
Claude ne se trouve sur cette liste. Est-ce parce qu’ils 
n’avaient pas l’intention de rentrer en France ou que la 
compilation finale a omis d’inclure une partie de la liste 
de famille par erreur ou est-ce que la famille n’était pas 
courant du processus ou était-elle autrement occupé à 
ce moment-là?  

Why no members of Claude’s family can be found on this 
list is unclear. Was it because they had no intention of 
returning to France or that the final compilation failed to 
include some of the family submitted list in error or was 
the family unaware of the process or were they 
otherwise occupied at that time?  

Une chose est claire, Abel Bourgeois, sa femme et un 
enfant apparaissent sur le recensement du Connecticut 
de familles acadiennes, soumis aux autorités françaises 
en 1763. 

One thing is clear, Abel Bourgeois, his wife and one child 
show up on the Connecticut census of Acadian families 
submitted to the French authorities in 1763. 

Sur la même page de ce recensement du Connecticut où 
se trouve Abel, nous trouvons la famille d’un Claude 

On the same page of this Connecticut census where find 
Abel, we find the family of a Claude Bourgeois composed 
of 3 people and a Joseph Caudray with his wife. 
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Bourgeois composé de 3 personnes et un Joseph 
Caudray avec sa femme. 

Est-ce notre Claude, son épouse et un enfant ? Est-ce que 
Joseph Caudray serait Joseph Gaudrot ou Joseph 
Gaudet ?14 

Is this our Claude and his wife and one child? Is the 
Joseph Caudray a Joseph Gaudrot or a Joseph Gaudet?15 

Les registres de l’archidiocèse de La Nouvelle-Orléans 
montrent que Margaret Bourgeois, fille de Claude 
Bourgeois, a épousé Joseph Gaudet à Nouvelle-Orléans 
le 10 mai 1765. Bien que l’on pense qu’il s’agit d’une 
revalidation d’un mariage qui a eu lieu dans la Nouvelle-
Angleterre en 1763, les enregistrements de 
l’archidiocèse n’indiquent aucune revalidation, bien que 
quelques incohérences entre deux enregistrements 
identiques soulèvent quelques questions.  

The Archdiocese of New Orleans Sacramental Records 
shows Margaret Bourgeois, daughter of Claude 
Bourgeois, as marrying Joseph Gaudet in New Orleans on 
the 10 May 1765. Although it is believed that this is a 
revalidation of a marriage that occurred in New-England 
in 1763, Archdiocese of New-Orleans Sacramental 
records indicates no revalidation, although some 
inconsistencies between two duplicate records does 
raise some questions.    

 

Remarque : Des recherches ultérieures, et un 
examen des copies des deux pages originales de 
registre, l’une trouvée dans le registre des mariages 
et l’autre trouvée dans le registre de baptême, ont 
montré que leur mariage a eu lieu le même jour que 
le baptême de leur fille Rosalie Victoire Gaudet, qui, 
selon son acte de baptême, est née à Boston, 
Massachusetts, le 25 février 1764, prouvant ainsi 
que le couple s’était marié au Massachusetts au 
moins 9 mois avant cette date. 

Note: Subsequent research, and a review of copies of 
the two original registry pages, one found in the 
marriage register and one found in the baptismal 
register, has shown their marriage occurred on the 
same day as the baptism of their daughter Rosalie 
Victoire Gaudet, who according to her baptismal 
record was born in Boston, Massachusetts, on the 
25th of February 1764, thus proving that the couple 
had married in Massachusetts at least 9 months 
prior to that date. 

 

En outre, la vérification de tous les documents de la 
Collection des Archives du Massachusetts de 1755 à 1767 
ne montre aucune référence à un Joseph Gaudet. Un 
examen de l’ensemble des recensements provinciaux 
des Français neutres de la Nouvelle-Angleterre de 1763 
préparés pour le gouvernement français pendant et pour 
la négociation d’une convention fut en vain. Si Joseph 
Gaudet est au Massachusetts durant cette période il 
n’est jamais apparu dans un document officiel. Est-ce 
que le Joseph Caudray nommé dans le recensement du 

In addition, verification all Massachusetts Archives 
Collection documents for 1755 to 1767 show no 
reference to a Joseph Gaudet.  A review of the entire 
1763 New England provincial censuses listing of French 
Neutrals prepared for the French Government during 
and for the treaty negotiations also proved fruitless.  If 
Joseph Gaudet was in Massachusetts during this period, 
he never showed up in any official document.  Could the 
Joseph Caudray in the 1763 Connecticut census be 
Joseph Gaudet and his wife Marguerite Bourgeois? This 
remain to be shown.17 

 
14 Pour une discussion détaillée sur le « Claude Bourgeois » retrouvé dans la liste de 1763 des neutres Français du Connecticut lire ma 

monographie « Qui est Claude Bourgeois trouvé sur la liste des Français neutres du Connecticut souhaitant retourner en France de 

1763 » qui a conclu qu’il s’agissait en fait de Claude (à German, à Jacques) Bourgeois. Cette monographie n’a pas encore été 

publiée. 
15 For a detailed discussion on the “Claude Bourgeois” found in the 1763 list of French Neutrals of Connecticut read my monograph 

“Who is Claude Bourgeois found on the 1763 list of French neutrals in Connecticut wishing to return to France” which concluded 

that this was in fact Claude (à German, à Jacques) Bourgeois. This monograph has yet to be published. 
17 For a detailed discussion of "Joseph Gaudet" married to "Marguerite Bourgeois" daughter of Claude, read my monograph "The 

curious case of Joseph Gaudet" which tries to explain how "Joseph Gaudet" who finds himself at Fort Edward in 1761 could have 

found himself in Boston in 1763. This research also suggest that he was in fact the “Joseph Caudray” found in the Connecticut list of 

French neutrals. 

https://histoire-de-bourgeois.ca/Reference/Monograph/The_curious_case_Joseph_Gaudet.pdf
https://histoire-de-bourgeois.ca/Reference/Monograph/The_curious_case_Joseph_Gaudet.pdf
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Connecticut de 1763 serait Joseph Gaudet et son épouse 
Marguerite Bourgeois? Cela reste à prouver.16 

De tous les Claude Bourgeois nés en Acadie avant la 
déportation, seuls deux semblent avoir été déportés vers 
les colonies. 

Of all the Claude Bourgeois’ born in Acadia prior to the 
deportation only two seem to have been deported to the 
colonies. 

1- Claude (Charles Bourgeois et Anne Marie Dugas) 
B : Env. 1674, M : 1701/1703 à Anne Blanchard, D : 
??, aucune trace de déportation. 

1- Claude (Charles Bourgeois and Anne Marie 
Dugas) B : abt 1674, M : 1701/1703 to Anne 
Blanchard, D : ??, no record of deportation. 

2- Claude (Joseph Bourgeois and Anne LeBlanc) N : 
abt 1736, M : Env. 1760 à Anne (Nanette) Bourque, 
D : 1769 à Minudie, NÉ, semble avoir échappé à la 
déportation. 

2- Claude (Joseph Bourgeois and Anne LeBlanc) B : 
abt 1736, M : Abt 1760 to Anne (Nanette) 
Bourque, D : 1769 in Minudie, NS,  seems to have 
escaped deportation. 

3- Claude (Charles Bourgeois and Madeleine 
Cormier) N : Apr 1734 à Beaubassin, M : Marie 
Vigneault à St-Pierre et Miquelon, FR, D : Oct 1801 
à Nicolet, QC, Est à St-Pierre-Miquelon en 1764, 
Larochelle France entre 1768/1783, retourne à 
Miquelon en 1783 et décède à Nicolet, QC en 
1801. 

3- Claude (Charles Bourgeois and Madeleine 
Cormier) B : Apr 1734 in Beaubassin, M : Marie 
Vigneault in St-Pierre et Miquelon, FR, D : Oct 
1801 in Nicolet, QC, found in St-Pierre-Miquelon 
in 1764, Larochelle France between 1768/1783, 
return to Miquelon in 1783 and died in Nicolet, 
QC in 1801. 

4- Claude (Claude Bourgeois et Anne Blanchard) N : 
Env. 1707 à Beaubassin, M : Env. 1728 à Marie 
Anne Cormier, D : Jan 1770 à Ste-Anne-de-Perade, 
QC, est selon plusieurs comme étant expulsés au 
Connecticut; après sa mort, sa veuve et ses trois fils 
cadet se retrouvent à St-Philippe de la Prairie, QC.18 

4- Claude (Claude Bourgeois and Anne Blanchard) B : 
abt 1707 in Beaubassin, M : Abt 1728 to Marie 
Anne Cormier, D : Jan 1770 in Ste-Anne-de-
Perade, QC, is shown by many to have been 
deported to Connecticut; after his death, his three 
youngest sons and his widow are found in St-
Philippe la Prairie, QC.19 

5- Claude (Germain Bourgeois and Magdeleine 
Dugas) B : Env. 1695 à Beaubassin, M : Nov 1721 à 
Marguerite LeBlanc, D : entre 1760 et 1763 au 
Massachusetts, expulsé au Massachusetts. 

5- Claude (Germain Bourgeois and Magdeleine 
Dugas) B : abt 1695 in Beaubassin, M : Nov 1721 
to Marguerite LeBlanc, D : between 1760 and 
1763 in Massachusetts, deported to 
Massachusetts. 

Claude, marié à Anne Blanchard, aurait eu trois enfants 
lors de la déportation (Clément [b : 1744], Michel [b : 
1747] et Pierre [b:1749]), qui aurait eu 19, 16 et 14 ans et 
n’auraient pas été mariés au moment de la création de la 
liste de 1763. Les trois fils se marient au Québec en 1773, 

Claude, married to Anne Blanchard, would have had 
three children and the time of the deportation (i.e., 
Clément [b: 1744], Michel [b: 1747] and Pierre [b:1749]), 
all of which, would have been 19, 16 and 14 years of age 
and not married at the time that the 1763 listing was 

 
16 Pour une discussion détaillée sur « Joseph Gaudet » marié è « Marguerite Bourgeois » fille de Claude, lire ma monographie « Le 

curieux cas de Joseph Gaudet » qui essaie d’expliquer comment « Joseph Gaudet »  qui se retrouve au Fort Edward en 1761 aurait 

pu se retrouver à Boston en 1763. Cette recherche suggère également qu’il était en fait le « Joseph Caudray » trouvé dans la liste des 

neutres Français du Connecticut. 
18 Pour une discussion détaillée sur le « Claude Bourgeois » qui mourut à Ste-Anne-de-Perade, Québec en janvier 1770, lisez ma 

monographie « Qui est Claude Bourgeois trouvé sur la liste de 1763 des neutres Français du Connecticut souhaitant rentrer en 

France » qui indique que ce « Claude Bourgeois » n’avait peut-être pas été déporté. Cette monographie n’a pas encore été publiée. 
19 For a detailed discussion on the “Claude Bourgeois” that died in Ste-Anne-de-Perade, Québec in Jan 1770 read my monograph 

“Who is Claude Bourgeois found on the 1763 list of French neutrals in Connecticut wishing to return to France” which indicated 

that this “Claude Bourgeois” may not have been deported. This monograph has yet to be published. 

 

https://histoire-de-bourgeois.ca/Reference/Monograph/The_curious_case_Joseph_Gaudet.pdf
https://histoire-de-bourgeois.ca/Reference/Monograph/The_curious_case_Joseph_Gaudet.pdf
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1779 et 1780 respectivement, sans indication d’une 
revalidation, en présence de leur mère, leur père étant 
décédé en 1770. 

created.  The three sons married in Québec in 1773, 1779 
and 1780, with no indication of a revalidation, in the 
presence of their mother, their father having passed 
away in 1770. 

On peut donc supposer que ces garçons auraient été 
déportés avec leurs parents et seraient avec eux en 1763, 
créant une famille de cinq personnes, mais le Claude 
Bourgeois dans la liste du Connecticut de 1763 est une 
famille de trois personnes. 

We can therefore assume that these boys would have 
been deported with their parents and would be with 
them in 1763 making a family of five, yet the Claude 
Bourgeois in the 1763 Connecticut list is a family of three. 

Étant donné que la fille cadette de notre Claude, 
Nathalie, n’est pas retrouvée au Québec avec le reste de 
la famille après la déportation, nous devons présumer 
qu’elle est décédée en Nouvelle-Angleterre entre 1760 
et 1767 et peut-être avant 1763 pendant la l’épidémie de 
la variole. 

Given that Nathalie, our Claude’s youngest daughter, did 
not go to Québec with the rest of the family following the 
deportation, we must assume that she died in New 
England between 1760 and 1767 and possibly before 
1763 during the smallpox epidemic. 

Est-ce que le Claude Bourgeois dans la liste de 1763 du 
Connecticut serait notre Claude, avec sa femme et le fils 
cadet Germain (Jerremy), sa fille cadette étant décédée 
avant 1763 ? 

Could the Claude Bourgeois in the 1763 Connecticut 
listing be our Claude, with his wife and youngest son 
Germain (Jerremy), his youngest daughter having passed 
away before 1763? 

 

Remarque: Des recherches ultérieures ont démontré 
que Claude Bourgeois inclus dans la liste du 
Connecticut était en fait Claude Bourgeois marié à 
Marguerite LeBlanc. Une monographie qui n’a pas 
encore été publiée qui s’intitule « Retour sur Claude 
Bourgeois retrouvé sur la Liste des Français neutres 
du Connecticut de 1763 » traite de ce sujet en détail. 
Ceci est confirmé dans les ajouts et corrections du 
« Dictionnaire généalogique des familles 
acadiennes » de Stephen A. White qui montre Claude 
comme étant au Connecticut en 1763. 

Note: Subsequent research has shown that Claude 
Bourgeois included in the Connecticut listing was in 
fact Claude Bourgeois married to Marguerite LeBlanc. 
A yet to be published monograph entitled “A look 
back at Claude Bourgeois found on the list of French 
Neutrals of Connecticut of 1763” discusses this 
subject in detail. This is confirmed in Stephen 
A. White’s corrections and additions of the 
“Dictionnaire généalogique des familles acadiennes” 
which shows Claude as being in Connecticut in 1763. 

 

Étant donné qu’Amable (M : 1760) et qu’Amand (M : 
1764) ont été mariés par Louis Robichaud à Cambridge et 
qu’Amable était présent au mariage de Amand en 1764 
selon le texte de la réhabilitation du mariage d’Amand, 
nous pourrions supposer qu’ils étaient tous deux au 
Massachusetts en 1763 bien qu’ils n’apparaissent pas sur 
la liste du Massachusetts 1763. 

Given that both Amable (M:1760) and Amand (M:1764) 
were married by Louis Robichaud in Cambridge and that 
Amable was at Amand’s marriage in 1764 according to 
the text of the rehabilitation of Amand’s marriage, we 
can assume that they were both in Massachusetts in 
1763 although they do not appear on the 1763 
Massachusetts listing. 

Cela expliquerait où se trouvait chaque membre de la 
famille de Claude en 1763, et suggère, mais ne constitue 
pas une preuve que Claude a accompagné son fils Abel 
au Connecticut. 

This would explain where each member of Claude’s 
family was 1763, and suggest, but does not constitute 
proof that Claude accompanied his son Abel to 
Connecticut. 

Si Claude accompagna Abel au Connecticut, alors son 
décès serait survenu entre 1763 et 1765 alors qu’Abel se 
trouve au Massachusetts, figurant sur une liste 

If Claude did accompany Abel to Connecticut, then his 
death would have occurred between 1763 and 1765 
when Abel can be found in Massachusetts listed on a 

https://www.umoncton.ca/umcm-ceaac/files/umcm-ceaac/wf/wf/pdf/cor-dict.pdf
https://www.umoncton.ca/umcm-ceaac/files/umcm-ceaac/wf/wf/pdf/cor-dict.pdf
https://www.umoncton.ca/umcm-ceaac/files/umcm-ceaac/wf/wf/pdf/cor-dict.pdf
https://www.umoncton.ca/umcm-ceaac/files/umcm-ceaac/wf/wf/pdf/cor-dict.pdf
https://www.umoncton.ca/umcm-ceaac/files/umcm-ceaac/wf/wf/pdf/cor-dict.pdf
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préliminaire de 1765 de Français neutres désirant se 
rendre au Québec, mais pas Claude. 

1765 preliminary list of French Neutrals wishing to go to 
Québec, but not Claude. 

Où Claude, sa femme et son fils Germain sont allés après 
cela sera clarifié plus tard en 1766.  

Where Claude, his wife and son Germain went after this 
will be clarified later 1766. 

 

1764 
 

Amand Bourgeois épousa Marie Marguerite Dugas (fille 
de Claude et Marie Jeanne Mélanson) vivant à Sturbridge 
en 1757, un village à environ 144 km d’Amesbury. 

Amand Bourgeois married Marie Marguerite Dugas 
(daughter of Claude and Marie Jeanne Mélanson) living 
in Sturbridge in 1757, a village some 89 miles from 
Amesbury. 

 

Voici un extrait du registre d’église pour la revalidation 
de leur mariage. 

The following is an extract from the church record 
revalidating their marriage. 

 (Translation) 

 

« ... lesquels auraient été conduits de l'Acadie en la 

province de Boston ou ils auraient été détenus 

prisonniers pendant 12 ans ... Se seraient pris là l'un 

et l'autre pour mari et femme, en présence de Claude 

Dugas, Charles Belliveau, Amable Bourgeois et Louis 

Robichaud.  Lesquels Amand Bourgeois et Marguerite 

Dugas auraient été présentés devant nous à l'église 

paroissiale de St-Pierre du Portage.... les parents du 

conjoint morts et absents et ceux de la conjointes 

vivants présents... » 

"... who were allegedly taken from Acadia to the 

province of Boston where they would have been held 

prisoner for 12 years... there they would have taken 

one and another for husband and wife, in the presence 

of Claude Dugas, Charles Belliveau, Amable 

Bourgeois and Louis Robichaud.  Amand Bourgeois 

and Marguerite Dugas have presented themselves 

before us in the parish church of St-Pierre of the 

Portage.... parents of the husband dead and absent 

and those of the wife living present ..." 

 

Cela confirme la présence d’Amable au mariage 
original d’Amand, montrant que les deux frères 
étaient près l’un de l’autre à ce moment-là. Étant 
donné la présence de Louis Robichaud, nous pouvons 
supposer qu’il a présidé la cérémonie. Autres que le 
père de Marguerite, nous trouvons également Charles 
Belliveau. Aucun des parents d’Amand n’est présent 
au mariage. Je crois que c’est dû au fait qu’ils auraient 
eu à se déplacer à Cambridge où Louis Robichaud a 
résidé pendant 20 ans (voir article about Louis 
Robichaud, Le Bourgeois, No. 31, Printemps 2013, 
page 15) et fournirait à la fois une certaine crédibilité 
à la théorie les montrant comme vivant dans le 
Connecticut en 1763. 

This confirms the presence of Amable at Amand’s 
original marriage, showing that the two brothers were 
near to each other at that time. Given the presence of 
Louis Robichaud we can assume that he performed 
the ceremony. Other than Marguerite’s father we also 
find Charles Belliveau.  Neither of Amand’s parents is 
shown to be present at the marriage. I believe that this 
is due to the fact that they would have to travel to 
Cambridge where Louis Robichaud resided for 20 
years (see article about Louis Robichaud, Le Bourgeois, 
No. 31, Spring 2013, page 15) and would provide 
credence to a theory showing them as living in 
Connecticut in 1763. 

 

 

https://histoire-de-bourgeois.ca/LeBulletin/Le_Bourgeois_N31_-_Printemps_2013_v_5.pdf
https://histoire-de-bourgeois.ca/LeBulletin/Le_Bourgeois_N31_-_Printemps_2013_v_5.pdf
https://histoire-de-bourgeois.ca/LeBulletin/Le_Bourgeois_N31_-_Printemps_2013_v_5.pdf
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G -  Réhabilitions du mariage d'Armand Bourgeois et Marguerite Dugas 

habilitation of the marriage of Armand Bourgeois and Marguerite Dugas 

1765 
 

En mars 1765, l’honorable James Murray, gouverneur du 
Québec, signe une proclamation, encourageant 
l’émigration vers et le développement du territoire du 
Québec.   Dans la proclamation, la province a fourni un 
minimum de 100 acres aux chefs des familles immigrants 
et 50 acres supplémentaires pour chaque membre de la 
famille, sans taxe pendant deux ans, pour un coût de 2 
shillings par an par 100 acres, à condition que pour 
chaque 50 acres, au moins 3 acres soient défrichées dans 
les 3 premières années. Ceux qui ne veulent pas défricher 
la terre devraient avoir au moins 3 bêtes à cornes (vaches 
ou moutons) au pâturage pour chaque 50 acres de 
terrain. Ceux qui s’établirait sur des terres côtières du 
fleuve Saint-Laurent, la Gaspésie et la « Baie des 
Chaleurs » recevrait également des droits de pêche à la 
morue et chasse aux baleines. 

In March of 1765, the Honorable James Murray, 
Governor of Québec, signed a proclamation encouraging 
the emigration to and development of the Québec 
territory. In the proclamation, the province provided a 
minimum of 100 acres to the heads of immigrating 
families, and 50 additional acres for each member of the 
family, without tax for two years, at a cost of 2 shillings a 
year per 100 acres, under the condition that for each 50 
acres, at least 3 acres be cleared within the first 3 years. 
Those not willing to clear the land would need to have at 
least 3 horned animals (cows or sheep) at pasture for 
each 50 acres of land. Those establishing themselves on 
costal land off the St-Lawrence River, Gaspé Peninsula 
and the “Baie des Chaleurs” would also receive fishing 
rights for cod fishing and whale hunting. 

En moins d’un an, les exilés du Massachusetts 
commencent à s’organiser pour adresser une pétition au 
gouvernement provincial afin de déménager au Québec. 
Une première liste (Massachusetts), créée pour ce 
processus montre «Abel Bourgeois et 9 membres de sa 
famille» comme faisant partie d’un groupe de 99 
familles, constituées de 931 personnes intéressées à se 

Within a year, the Massachusetts exiles begin to organize 
themselves to petition the provincial government to be 
allowed to relocate to Quebec. A first (Massachusetts) 
list created for this process shows “Abel Bourgeois and 9 
members of his family” as being part of a group of 99 
families consisting of 931 people interested in relocating 
to Québec. It is not clear if this request includes all the 
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réinstaller au Québec. Il n’est pas clair si cette demande 
comporte tous les membres de la famille Bourgeois ou 
les membres de sa belle-famille. 

members of the Bourgeois family or members of his in-
laws. 

Margaret Bourgeois épouse Joseph Gaudet le fils de 
Claude Gaudet et Catherine Foret à La Nouvelle-Orléans 
en 1765 et ne faisait donc pas partie de la famille désirant 
aller au Québec en 1766. Comment Marguerite aurait 
quitté la province du Massachusetts pour La Nouvelle-
Orléans n’est pas clair, et je n’ai jusqu’à présent trouvé 
aucun document indiquant qu’elle ou tout autre 
membre de la famille a quitté la ville d’Amesbury ou la 
province. 

Margaret Bourgeois marries Joseph Gaudet son of 
Claude Gaudet and Catherine Foret in New Orleans in 
1765 and thus was not part of the family seeking to go to 
Québec in 1766. How Marguerite left the province of 
Massachusetts for New Orleans is unclear and I have so 
far found no document that indicate that she or any 
other member of the family left the town of Amesbury or 
the province.  

 

1766 
 

Une entrée dans le procès-verbal des Selectmen 
d’Amesbury du 10 mars 1766 se lit comme suit ; 

An entry in the Amesbury minutes of the Selectmen on 
March 10, 1766, reads as follows; 

(Traduction)  

« A été voté que les « Selectmen » prennent soin et 

expulser la veuve Buseway & son fils Geremy et aussi 

prendre soin de sa « Estate ».” 

“Voted that the Select men take care and put out ye 

widow Buseway & her son Geremy and also take care 

of her Estate.” 

 

Le terme « Estate », tel qu’il est utilisé ici, désignait probablement 
la maison où elle vivait ou était cantonnée. 

“Estate” as used here probably referred to the house where she 
lived or was quartered. 

 

 
Figure 8 

 Procès-verbal des Selectmen de la ville d ’Amesbury 
Town of Amesbury Selectmen's minutes 

 

Cela indiquerait que Claude n’a pas suivi son fils Abel à 
Boston après qu’il avait été inscrit sur la liste de 1763 du 
Connecticut des Français neutres souhaitant aller en 
France, mais qu’il soit retourné à Amesbury, où il est 
décédé avant l’entrée du 10 mars. 

This would indicate that Claude did not follow his son 
Abel to Boston after he appears in the 1763 Connecticut 
listing of French Neutrals wishing to go to France, but 
that he returned instead to Amesbury, where he passed 
away prior to the 10th of March entry. 

Compte tenu de la situation de Claude au sein de la 
communauté d’Amesbury, il aurait probablement été 
enterré dans un cimetière des pauvres (« champ du 
potier »). Au moins, trois cimetières auraient été en 
service à ce moment. Le cimetière de Golgatha qui 
remonte à 1654, le cimetière des Plaines de Salisbury, 
dans le nord de la ville, fondée en 1640, et le cimetière 
de l’Union, dans à l’ouest, inauguré dans les environs de 
1665. Les autres cimetières dans la région semblent tous 

Given Claude’s status within the Amesbury community at 
the time he would have probably been buried in a 
Potter’s field. At least, three cemeteries would have been 
in operation at the time.  The Golgatha cemetery which 
dates to 1654, the Salisbury Plains Cemetery, in the north 
end of town, established in 1640, and the Union 
Cemetery, in the west end, established about 1665.  The 
other cemeteries in the region seemed to have all been 
established after 1772.  I have yet to determine which, if 
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avoir été inaugurés après 1772. J’ai encore à déterminer 
lequel, le cas échéant, de ces cimetières aurait maintenu 
un cimetière des pauvres à ce moment-là. 

any, of these cemeteries would have maintained a 
potter’s field at that time. 

Ayant été retirée de la maison où ils vivaient, Marguerite, 
la femme de Claude et Germain, son fils, auraient besoin 
être logés ailleurs. 

Having been removed from the house where they lived 
Marguerite, Claude’s wife, and Germain his son, would 
need to be lodged somewhere else. 

Cet extrait du « History of Amesbury » décrit une maison 
utilisée pour loger les pauvres. Elle a peut-être été 
utilisée pour loger la famille de Claude pendant leur exil 
à Amesbury. 

The following excerpt from the “History of Amesbury” 
describes a house used to house the poor. This may have 
been used to house Claude’s family during their exile in 
Amesbury. 

(Traduction)  

 

« M. Samuel Shepherd a reçu les remerciements de la 

ville « pour le bon service qu’il a fait pour la ville 

relativement aux pauvres ». 

M. Shepherd a soulagé la ville dans une certaine 

mesure des soins pour les pauvres, en gardant un bon 

nombre d’entre eux sur sa ferme de White Hall, un 

peu au sud de la résidence de Joseph Mason. La 

vieille maison existe depuis aussi longtemps que se 

souviennent les plus anciens habitants, même si un 

bâtiment très vieux. Elle était du vieux style, couverte 

de planches de l’intérieur et de l’extérieur (aucun 

plâtrage) avec une couche de briques entre les murs 

de planches extérieur et intérieur pour arrêter les 

balles des Indiens. Il n’y avait pas de fenêtre, mais 

quelques planches qui pouvaient être enlevées si 

nécessaire. Son immense cheminée présente une 

faible tentative d’ornementation en forme de travail 

cannelée ou imitation de piliers, qui était chose 

inhabituelle à l’époque. Il avait, sans doute, servi à la 

famille depuis plusieurs générations. L’emplacement 

était très agréable, offrant une vue superbe sur la 

campagne environnante sur plusieurs kilomètres. » 

“Mr. Samuel Shepherd received the thanks of the town 

‘for his good service he did the town in respect of the 

poor’.  

 

Mr. Shepherd had relieved the town in some measure 

of care about the poor, by keeping quite a number of 

them on his farm at White Hall, a little south of Joseph 

Mason's residence. The old house was standing since 

the memory of some now living, although a very 

ancient building. It was of the Old style, boarded 

without and within, (no plastering) lined between with 

bricks to stop the balls of the Indians. There were no 

windows above, but boards to take down when needed. 

Its huge chimney presented a faint attempt at 

ornamentation in the shape of fluted work or imitation 

of pillars, which was something unusual in those days. 

It had, no doubt, served the family for several 

generations. The location was a very pleasant one, 

affording a fine view of the surrounding country for 

many miles.” 

 

Le 2 juin 1766, le conseil provincial reçoit une pétition 
des Français neutres désireux d’immigrer au Québec.  

On the 2nd of June 1766, the Provincial council received 
a petition from French Neutrals wishing to emigrate to 
Québec.  

Parmi les signataires de cette pétition sont Amand (plus 
3 membres de sa famille) et Abel Bourgeois (plus 4 
membres de sa famille).  

Among the signatories of the petition are Amand (plus 3 
members of his family) and Abel Bourgeois (plus 4 
members of his family).  

De toute la famille Claude Bourgeois, qui figure sur la 
liste des Français neutres vivant à Amesbury en 1760, 
seulement les familles de deux de ses fils, totalisant 9 
personnes se trouvent sur la liste des Acadiens 
souhaitant aller à Québec. Qui a été inclus dans ce 
nombre n’est pas clair ?  

Of all of Claude Bourgeois family, found on the 1760 list 
of French Neural living in Amesbury, only two of his sons’ 
families, totalling 9 people are found on the list of 
Acadians wishing to go to Québec. Who was included in 
this number is not clear?  
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Nous savons qu’Abel et sa femme, Marguerite Doucet, 
avaient deux enfants à cette époque, leurs actes de 
baptême, retrouvés à la paroisse de l’Assomption 
montrant leur naissance en Nouvelle-Angleterre, 
représentant ainsi 4 individus, mais le nombre total pour 
la famille est de cinq. Abel a-t-il eu un autre enfant qui, 
après être mort, a été laissé sans trace ? 

We know that Abel and his wife, Marguerite Doucet, had 
two children at that time, their baptismal records, found 
at the Assumption parish showing their birth in New 
England, thus accounting for 4 individuals, but the total 
count for the family is five. Did Abel have another child 
that who having died was left undocumented? 

Amand, pour sa part, il est montré comme ayant une 
famille de quatre personnes, et bien que le mariage laïc 
ait eu lieu en 1764, nous n’avons aucune preuve 
d’enfants de cette union avant 1767. Est-il possible qu’ils 
aient eu 2 enfants en Nouvelle-Angleterre qui sont 
également décédés avant leur arrivée à Québec en 
1767 ? 

Amand, for his part is shown to have a family of four, and 
while the lay marriage is said to have occurred in 1764, 
we have no evidence of children from this union before 
1767. Is it possible that they had 2 children in New 
England that also passed away before they arrived in 
Québec in 1767? 

S’il y avait des enfants, la réhabilitation du mariage ne 
fait aucune mention d’eux ou de leur décès,  

If there were children, the rehabilitation of the marriage 
makes no mention of them or of their passing,  

Ces deux personnes supplémentaires auraient-elles pu 
être sa mère Marguerite LeBlanc et son frère Germain 
que nous savons être à Amesbury à cette époque ?   

Could these two extra people have been his mother 
Marguerite LeBlanc and his brother Germain whom we 
know to be in Amesbury at that time?   

Ou s’agissait-il de membres de la famille de son épouse 
? 

Or were they members of his wife’s family? 

Nous ne connaîtrons probablement jamais la réponse à 
ces questions. 

We will probably never know the answer to these 
questions. 

Le 29 septembre 1766, la ville d’Amesbury vota pour 
faire quelque chose pour la vieille dame Française, et il 
fut laissé aux Selectmen de faire pour elle ce qu’ils 
pensaient approprier. Étant donné que Marguerite 
Bourgeois et son fils Germain vivent toujours à 
Amesbury à cette époque, cette vieille dame Française 
ne pouvait être qu’elle. 

On September 29, 1766, the town of Amesbury voted to 
do something for the old French woman, and it was left 
to the Selectmen to do for her as they thought proper. 
Given that Marguerite Bourgeois and her son Germain 
are still living in Amesbury at this time, this old French 
woman could only be her. 

Selon le procès-verbal de cette réunion, Marguerite  
vivait alors à Salisbury qui avait alors été incorporée à 
Amesbury. 

According to the minutes of this meeting, Marguerite 
then have been living in Salisbury which had by then been 
incorporated into Amesbury. 

 



Page 43 

Version 3.5 Date : 1 février / February 2023 
Copyright © 2016  Marc Bourgeois – Histoire-de-Bourgeois.ca - All rights reserved/Tout droit réservés 

 
Figure 9 

Procès-verbal des « Selectmen » de la ville d’Amesbury   
Minutes of the meeting of the Selectmen of the town of Amesbury 

 

En septembre 1766 « La Gazette de Québec » publie un 
article indiquant : 

In September 1766 “La Gazette de Québec” publishes an 
article stating: 

 (Translation) 

 

« la nuit dernière arrive à Québec la goélette Terry de 

Boston portant quarante Acadiens, qui, à cause de 

leur religion, sont venus s’établir ici ». 

« Last night arrived in Québec the schooner Terry from 

Boston bringing 40 Acadians, who because of their 

religion have come to live here. » 

 

Douze ou treize de ces familles furent accueillies par 
l’abbé Jacques De Geay, Seigneur et le curé de 
l’Assomption. 

Twelve or thirteen of these families were greeted by the 
father Jacques De Geay the “Seigneur” and priest of 
l’Assomption. 

 

1767 
 

Le 19 mai 1767, la ville d’Amesbury décide de soutenir le 
retour des Français neutres au Canada et les accorde 
quinze dollars pour les aider sur leur chemin.   

On May the 19th 1767, the town of Amesbury decided to 
support the return of the French Neutrals to Canada and 
provided them with fifteen dollars to help them on their 
way.  
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Figure 10 

Procès-verbal des « Selectmen » de la ville d’Amesbury   
Minutes of the meeting of the Selectmen of the town of Amesbury 

 

Marguerite Bourgeois et son fils Germain qui, après la 
mort de Claude, furent laissés seuls, pauvres et démunis, 
avaient maintenant les fonds nécessaires pour quitter le 
Massachusetts et revenir au Canada. 

Marguerite Bourgeois and her son Germain who after 
the death of Claude were left alone, poor and destitute 
now had the funds to leave Massachusetts and return to 
Canada.    

Alors qu’on croyait à l’origine que la famille de Claude 
était prisonnière à Amesbury pour la durée de la 
déportation et que seul Abel réussi à partir et d’aller au 
Connecticut, nous voyons maintenant que l’histoire de 
ce qui s’est passé pendant cette période était plus 
complexe et nuancée. 

While it was originally believed that Claude’s family were 
prisoners in Amesbury for the duration of the 
deportation and that only Abel had managed to 
somehow leave and go to Connecticut, we now see that 
story of transpired during that period was more complex 
and nuanced. 

 

Remarque : Comme mentionné précédemment, des recherches 
ultérieures ont montré que Claude et les membres de sa famille 
étaient au Connecticut en 1763 et qu’Abel et Amand étaient à 
Boston en 1764/1765. 

Note: As mentioned previously subsequent research has shown 
that Claude and members of his family were in Connecticut in 
1763 and that both Abel and Amand were in Boston in 1764/1765. 

Marguerite Bourgeois et son mari Joseph Gaudet, pour leur part, 
quittèrent le Massachusetts pour la Louisiane quelque temps 
avant décembre 1765. 

Marguerite Bourgeois and her husband Joseph Gaudet, for their 
part, left Massachusetts for Louisiana sometime before December 
1765. 

Nous savons aussi que les deux frères et leur sœur Élizabeth 
arrivent, selon leurs réhabilitations de mariage, au Québec entre 
juillet et septembre 1767. 

We also know that both brothers and their sister Elizabeth arrived 
in Québec between July and September 1767. 

On ne sait pas pourquoi leurs dates de réhabilitation de mariage, 
ou le choix des destinations sont différents, mais cela suggère 
qu’ils n’ont pas voyagé en tant qu’entité familiale, mais plutôt 
séparément en tant que groupes familiaux individuels. 

It is unclear why their marriage rehabilitation dates, or choice of 
destinations are different, but it suggests that they did not travel 
as a family group but rather separately as individual family pods. 

La date d’arrivée de Marguerite LeBlanc, l’épouse de Claude, et 
de son fils Germain (Jérémie) est inconnue, mais elle n’est 
présente à aucune de leurs réhabilitations mariages, ce qui nous 
porte à croire qu’elle est arrivée au Québec après septembre 1767 
et peut-être avec son fils Amable en 1774.   

The date of arrival of Marguerite LeBlanc, Claude’s wife, and her 
son Germain (Jeremy) is unknown, but she is not present at any 
of their marriage rehabilitation which leads us to believe that she 
arrives in Québec after September 1767 and possibly with her son 
Amable in 1774. 

 

Quoi qu’il en soit, les membres de la famille auraient 
séjourné dans les colonies pendant au moins onze ans. 

Whatever the case, the family members would have 
resided in the colonies at least eleven years. 
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De juin à septembre 1767, les membres de la famille 
Bourgeois ainsi que leurs personnes à charge 
embarquent sur des navires à Boston en direction de la 
ville de Québec.   

From June to September 1767, members of the 
Bourgeois family and their dependants boarded ships in 
Boston bound for Québec City.   
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Une nouvelle Acadie  //  A New Acadia 
 

La famille  //  The Family 
 

La famille de Claude ayant vécu paisiblement aux abords 
de la rivière Annapolis et dans la région de Beaubassin 
jusqu’en 1755 se trouva vers 1768 maintenant éparpillée 
à travers l’Amérique du Nord et la France par les vents de 
la guerre et les déportations. 

Claude’s family that had lived peacefully on the shores of 
the Annapolis River and in the region of Beaubassin up to 
1755 was, by 1768, now scattered by the winds of war 
and the deportations across North America and France. 

Deux de ses filles dont nous n’avons pas encore parlé 
dans cet article furent déportées séparément avec leurs 
maris vers d’autres lieux et vécurent leurs propres 
histoires tragiques. 

Two of his daughters, which were not discussed 
previously in this article, were deported separately with 
their husbands to other locations and had their own 
tragic stories. 

Marie-Madeleine, mariée à Jean-Prudent Robichaud, fut 
déportée en France après avoir pris refuge à l’Île-St-Jean, 
aujourd’hui l’Île-du-Prince-Édouard (IPÉ). Son mari 
mourut à Cherbourg, en Normandie, France, le 2 juin 
1759 ou 1760. 

Marie-Madeleine, married to Jean-Prudent Robichaud, 
was deported to France after having taken refuge on Île 
St-Jean, today Prince Edward Island (PEI). Her husband 
died in Cherbourg, Normandy, France on June 2, 1759, or 
1760. 

Marie-Madeleine se remaria deux fois en France à des 
Acadiens qui y avaient été déportés. Elle décéda à Nantes 
le 13 février 1770. 

Marie-Madeleine got remarried twice in France to 
Acadians that had been deported there. She died in 
Nantes on February 13, 1770. 

Son troisième mari, Étienne Thériault, mourut à Nantes 
le 24 novembre 1781. Il n’est pas clair si certains de ses 
enfants faisait partie du groupe d’Acadiens qui émigra en 
Louisiane subséquemment. 

Her third husband Étienne Thériault died in Nantes on 
November 24, 1781.  Whether any of her children were 
part of the group of Acadians that subsequently left for 
Louisiana is not clear. 

Anastasie, mariée à Pierre Dupuis, fut déportée à Rowley, 
au Massachusetts et tout comme ses frères Amand, 
Amable et Germain, elle émigra à Saint-Jacques-de-
l’Achigan suite à la déportation.  

Anastasie, married to Pierre Dupuis, was deported to 
Rowley, Massachusetts and like her brothers Amand, 
Amable and Germain, migrated to Saint-Jacques-de-
l’Achigan following the deportation. 

Deux des enfants de Claude semble avoir complètement 
évité la déportation. 

Two of Claude’s children seem to have escaped 
deportation altogether. 

Marie-Anne, qui était mariée à Joseph Gaudet, avait fui 
la région de Tintamarre au nord de Beaubassin pour aller 
à l’Île St-Jean et de là, à la région de Verchères au Québec. 
Elle émigra à St-Our dans la Vallée du Richelieu après le 
décès de son mari en 1765. 

Marie-Anne, who was married to Joseph Gaudet, had 
fled the Tintamarre region north of Beaubassin to go to 
l’Île St-Jean and from there to the Vercheres region of 
Quebec. She migrated to St-Our in the Richelieu Valley 
after the death of her husband in 1765. 

Pierre-Benjamin, l’aîné de Claude qui était marié avec 
Cécile Aucoin, échappa à la déportation en s’enfuyant à 
la région du Petitcodiac où son premier enfant est né et 
où sa femme Cécile décéda avant 1760. 

Pierre-Benjamin, Claude’s eldest son who was married to 
Cécile Aucoin, escaped deportation by fleeing to the area 
of Petitcodiac where his first child was born, and his wife 
Cécile died before 1760. 

Pierre-Benjamin migra ensuite à Pisiguit ou il vécut de 
1760 à 1768, puis à la région autour de Memramcook, et 
enfin à Grande-Digue où il décéda en 1821. 

Pierre-Benjamin then moved to Pisiguit were he lived 
from about 1760 to 1768, then to the area around 
Memramcook, and yet later to Grande-Digue where he 
died in 1821.  
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Suite au décès de sa première femme, Cécile Aucoin, 
Pierre-Benjamin se remaria au moins 2 autres fois (c.-à-
d. Anne Leblanc et Anne Thébeau [Thibault]) et aurait eu, 
si je les ai identifiés correctement, 15 enfants en tout. 

Following the death of his first wife, Cécile Aucoin, Pierre-
Benjamin married at least 2 more times (i.e., Anne 
Leblanc and Anne Thébeau [Thibault]) and had, if I have 
identified them correctly, 15 children in all. 

Un quatrième mariage à Anne Thibodeau n’est 
mentionné nulle part dans les écrits de Stephen White et 
est seulement mentionné en compilations, par Bona 
Arsenault, Adrien Bergeron et Drouin, lesquels ont tous 
démontré des erreurs. 

A fourth marriage to Anne Thibodeau is not mentioned 
in any of Stephen White’s writings and is mentioned only 
in compilations, by Bona Arsenault, Adrien Bergeron and 
Drouin all of which have been shown to contain errors. 

 

Commentaire : Il est tout à fait possible qu’Anne 
Thébeau (Thibault) et Ann Thidodeau soient la même 
personne et que ce soit le résultat d’une erreur de 
transcription d’une donnée originale. Erreur qui, dans 
mon expérience, se perpétue quand un auteur fait 
référence à une autre qui a fait une erreur de 
transcription et qui lui devient alors référence à 
quelqu’un d’autre. Cela devient un château de cartes 
construit sur une erreur de transcription ou une 
erreur d’interprétation erronée, vouée à s’effondrer 
si l’erreur d’origine est supprimée. 

Comment: It is entirely possible that Anne Thébeau 
(Thibault) and Ann Thidodeau are the same person 
and that this the result of a transcription error of an 
original data element. Error that, in my experience, is 
perpetuated when one author refers another 
author’s transcription error which then becomes 
reference by someone else. This becomes a house of 
cards, built upon one erroneous transcription or 
interpretation error, bound to collapse if the original 
error is removed. 

 

Bon nombre des Bourgeois résidant aujourd’hui dans 
l’est du Nouveau-Brunswick sont des descendants de 
Pierre-Benjamin. 

Many of the Bourgeois residing in Eastern New 
Brunswick today are descendants of Pierre-Benjamin. 

La destinée d’un des enfants de Claude demeure 
inconnue. Aucun record n’a pu être trouvé pour 
Gertrude suite à la déportation. 

The destiny of one of Claude’s children remains 
unknown. No records can be found for Gertrude 
following the deportation. 

De la famille déportée avec Claude, Claude lui-même et 
sa fille Nathalie n’ont jamais quitté les terres où ils furent 
déportés et ils sont enterrés à quelque part en Nouvelle-
Angleterre. 

Of the family that was deported with Claude, Claude 
himself and his daughter Nathalie never left the land to 
which they were deported and lie buried somewhere in 
New England. 

Marguerite, qui épouse Joseph Gaudet, émigre en 
Louisiane en 1765 où l’on retrouve ses actes de mariages. 
Elle mourut à Cabanocey, dans la paroisse de St-James en 
Louisiane, avant novembre 1796. Sa progéniture Gaudet 
sont les ancêtres de bon nombre de Gaudet de Louisiane.  

Marguerite who married Joseph Gaudet migrated to 
Louisiana in 1765 where we find her marriage records. 
She died in Cabanocey, St-James-Parish, Louisiana, 
sometime before November of 1796. Her Gaudet 
progeny are the ancestors of many Louisiana Gaudets. 

Des quatre garçons restants, Amand, Amable et Germain 
se retrouvèrent tous à l’Assomption, au Québec et 
émigrèrent à Saint-Jacques-de-l’Achigan, une nouvelle 
enclave acadienne nord-est de L’Assomption vers 
l’année 1775. 

Of the four remaining boys, Amand, Amable and 
Germain all ended up in l’Assomption, Quebec and 
migrated to Saint-Jacques-de-l’Achigan, a new Acadian 
enclave, north-east of l’Assomption around the 
year 1775. 

Bien qu’il ne soit pas clair quand Germain et sa mère sont 
arrivés à l’Assomption, ils sont peut-être arrivés aussi 
tard que 1774 avec Amable, car Germain apparaît dans 

Although it is not clear when Germain and his mother 
arrived in l’Assomption, they may have arrived as late as 
1774 with Amable, as Germain shows up in the church 
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le registre de l’église pour la première fois quand il 
épouse Ludivine Elizabeth Belliveau en 1776. 

registry for the first time when he marries Ludivine 
Elizabeth Belliveau in 1776. 

Amable arriva à l’Assomption en 1774, sept ans après ses 
frères. Il était demeuré au Massachusetts jusqu’aux 
premiers signes de véritables problèmes entre la 
population native de Nouvelle-Angleterre, bientôt 
appelés Américains, et la Couronne britannique.  

Amable arrived in l’Assomption in 1774, seven years 
after his brothers. He remained in Massachusetts until 
the first signs of real problems between the New 
England-born, soon to become American, populations 
and the British Crown.    

Après la révolte du Boston Tea Party en 1773 et 
l’Intolerable Act de 1774, loi qui vint enlever les droits 
historiques incluant ceux à l’auto-gouvernance aux 
colonies américaines, la Guerre de l’Indépendance, aussi 
appelée la Révolution Américaine, débuta pour de bon 
en 1775. 

After the Boston Tea Party of 1773 and the Intolerable 
Act of 1774 which took away self-government and 
historic rights of the American colonies, the War of 
Independence, also referred to as the American 
Revolution, began in earnest in 1775. 

Abel, l’aîné des garçons déportés, pour sa part, émigra à 
Bécancour, au Québec, en 1767, en même temps que 
son frère Amand qui émigra à l’Assomption. 

Abel, the eldest of the deported boys, for his part, 
migrated to Bécancour, Quebec, in 1767, at the same 
time as his brother Amand who migrated to 
l’Assomption. 

Il n’est pas clair pourquoi Amable n’a pas suivi le reste de 
la famille à ce moment-là. 

Why Amable did not follow the rest of the family at that 
time is unclear. 

Comme les feuilles ayant tombé sous l’arbre paternel et 
qui s’envolent loin de leur lieu d’origine soufflées par les 
tempêtes automnales, les générations suivantes 
émigreront vers de nouveaux lieux à travers l’Amérique 
du Nord. 

Like leaves that having fallen under the parental tree 
which are blown far from their place of origin by fall 
storms, following generations will migrate to new 
locations across North America. 

Leurs tempêtes seront de nature économique et 
consisteront principalement : 

1. du manque de terres pour les familles 
croissantes 

2. de la Révolution industrielle 
3. du développement de l’Ouest 
4. de la Grande dépression 
5. des opportunités économiques 

Their storms are of an economic nature and consist 
mainly of: 

1. the lack of agricultural lands for growing 
family 

2. the Industrial Revolution 
3. the development of the Western frontier 
4. the Great Depression 
5. Economic opportunity 

 

L’Assomption, QC 
 

Les prêtres de Saint-Sulpice s’intéressèrent en particulier 
aux Acadiens exilés. Propriétaires d’une importante 
seigneurie qu’ils voulaient développer, ils y accueillirent 
dès 1766 un groupe d’exilés venant de la Nouvelle-
Angleterre. Ils fondèrent Saint-Jacques, Saint-Alexis, 
Saint-Liguori, Sainte-Marie-Salomé, une partie de Sainte-
Julienne et de Crabtree, et plus tard Saint-Alphonse, 
Saint-Côme et Chertsey.  Les nouveaux arrivés 
commencèrent par s'établir sur les bords des rivières 
l’Assomption et l'Achigan, comme colons, engagés de 
ferme ou petits fermiers à bail. L'accueil peu ordinaire du 

The Sulpician priests were especially interested in 
Acadian exiles. Owners of an important seigniory that 
they wanted to develop, they started welcoming groups 
of exiles coming from New England as early as 1766. They 
established Saint-Jacques, Saint-Alexis, Saint-Liguori, 
Sainte-Marie-Salomé, a part of Sainte-Julienne and 
Crabtree, and later Saint-Alphonse, Saint-Côme and 
Chertsey. The new arrivals started by settling on the 
banks of the Assomption and the Achigan Rivers, as 
settlers, farm laborers or small farm lessees. The unusual 
welcoming of Pastor Jacques DeGeay, and second to 
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curé Jacques DeGeay, et l'hospitalité sans pareille de ses 
ouailles ranimèrent en eux l'espoir de refaire leur vie. 

none hospitality of his flock revived in the new arrivals 
the hope to rebuild their lives. 

C'est en 1772 qu'on commença à appeler « Nouvelle-
Acadie » le territoire en voie de défrichement, qui faisait 
partie de Saint-Pierre du Portage ou l’Assomption. Les 
Acadiens voulurent témoigner de leur gratitude 
profonde au curé de l’Assomption, Jacques Degeay, cet 
apôtre si généreux dans leurs malheurs. Ils voulurent 
immortaliser sa mémoire en appelant leur nouvelle 
paroisse « Saint-Jacques », et en souvenir de l'ancienne 
patrie, ils ajoutèrent « de la Nouvelle-Acadie ». Plus tard, 
le nom de « Saint-Jacques-de-la-Nouvelle-Acadie » fut 
changé pour « Saint-Jacques-de-l’Achigan » afin de 
réduire la confusion causée par de nouvelles 
communautés québécoises contenant les mots Acadie 
ou Nouvelle-Acadie dans leur nom. 

In 1772 they began to call the territory part of Saint-
Pierre du Portage or l’Assomption, that was in the 
process of being cleared, “Nouvelle-Acadie” (New-
Acadia). The Acadians wanted to show their deep 
gratitude to the priest of l’Assomption, Jacques Degeay, 
this generous apostle in their misfortunes.  They wanted 
to immortalize his memory by calling their new Parish 
“Saint-Jacques”, and in the memory of their ancient 
homeland, they added "de-la-Nouvelle-Acadie”. Later, 
the name “St-Jacques-de-la-Nouvelle-Acadie” was 
changed to “St-Jacques-de l’Achigan” in order to reduce 
the confusion caused by all the new Quebec 
communities containing the words Acadie or Nouvelle-
Acadie in them. 

 

 

11-  Distribution de la descendance d’Amand et de Germain Bourgeois à la 4e génération 
Distribution of Amand and Germain Bourgeois’ descendants by the 4th generation 

 

En 1775, les trois frères qui émigrèrent à l’Assomption, 
Amand, Amable et Germain, se retrouvèrent à St-
Jacques-de-l’Achigan où les registres paroissiaux 
enregistrèrent les importants événements de leurs vies 
et de celles de leurs enfants. La lignée d’Amable se 
termina ici puisqu’il n’a pas eu d’enfants. 

In 1775, the three brothers that migrated to 
l’Assomption, Amand, Amable and Germain, can be 
found at St-Jacques-de-l’Achigan, where the parish 
register records the important activities of their and their 
children’s lives. Amable’s line ended here as he had no 
children. 
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À St-Jacques ils rejoignirent des cousins acadiens qui 
avaient évité la déportation et s’étaient rendus jusqu’à 
l’Assomption plus tôt. 

In St-Jacques they joined some of their Acadian cousins 
that had escaped deportation and had made their way to 
l’Assomption earlier. 

La croissance des familles et le manque de terres arables 
força les nouvelles générations à émigrer vers de 
nouveaux territoires.  

The growth of the families and the lack of arable land 
forced new generations to move to new territories.  

Comme une goutte d’huile s’étendant sur la surface de 
l’eau, au cours des trois prochaines générations, leurs 
descendants vont s’étendre vers les nouveaux territoires 
avoisinants en voie de développement. 

Like a drop of oil spreading out over a watery surface, 
over the next three generations, their descendants 
spread out into the new adjoining territories being 
developed. 

Vers la quatrième génération, certains soucieux 
d’améliorer leur situation émigrèrent plus loin. Les 
descendants d’Amand émigrèrent principalement vers 
l’ouest et ceux de Germain, vers l’est. Dans le cas des 
deux familles, certains émigrèrent aux États-Unis étant 
donné l’attrait économique de la fin du 19e siècle et du 
début du 20e siècle. 

By the fourth generation some looking to better their 
fortunes moved further afield. Amand’s descendants 
migrated mainly toward the west and Germain’s 
descendants, toward the east. In the case of both 
families, some migrated to the United States due to the 
economic magnet of the late 1800s and early 1900s. 

Vers la cinquième génération et le début de la Révolution 
industrielle, la migration vers de nouvelles villes 
fermières et industrielles au Vermont, Michigan, 
Minnesota, Massachusetts, Wisconsin, Ontario, 
Manitoba et Alberta augmenta. 

By the fifth generation and the start of the Industrial 
Revolution, migration to new farming and industrial 
towns in Vermont, Michigan, Minnesota, Massachusetts, 
Wisconsin, Ontario, Manitoba and Alberta increased. 

Tout comme les descendants des familles originales qui 
s’étendirent depuis l’Assomption en cercles 
concentriques croissant sans cesse, les descendants de 
ces nouveaux pionniers s’étendirent depuis ces 
nouveaux territoires pour les générations suivantes, 
adoptant dans certains cas un nouveau patronyme tel 
que « Bushway » et « Boss ». 

In the same way that descendants of the original families 
spread out from l’Assomption in ever-growing concentric 
circles, the descendants of these new pioneers spread 
out from these new locations over the following 
generations, in some cases taking on new surnames such 
as “Bushway” and “Boss”. 

 

Bécancour, QC 
 

Le premier groupe d’Acadiens qui arriva dans la région de 
Bécancour en 1758 était composé de familles qui, 
réfugiées dans les bois dans la région de Miramichi, se 
joignèrent aux troupes françaises du commandant de 
Boishébert rappelé à Québec par le gouverneur 
Vaudreuil à l’automne de 1757. 

The first group of Acadians to arrive in the Bécancour 
area in 1758 consisted of families who, having sought 
refuge in the woods in the Miramichi area, joined the 
French troops of Commander Boishébert who was 
recalled to Quebec by Governor Vaudreuil in the fall of 
1757. 

De Québec, l’Abbé Leguerne les dirigea vers la Seigneurie 
de Bécancour où le Seigneur de Montesson, connaissant 
les Acadiens pour avoir participer avec eux à une attaque 
contre les Anglais en 1746, accepta les réfugiés sur ses 
terres à l’été 1758. Ces premières familles s’établirent le 
long du Lac St-Paul près des tribus Abénaquis. 

From Quebec City, Abbot Leguerne directed them to the 
Seigniory of Bécancour where the Seigneur de 
Montesson, who knew the Acadians for having 
participated with them in an attack against the British in 
1746, accepted refugees on his land in the summer 1758. 
These first families settled along Lake St-Paul near the 
Abenaki tribes. 
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Un deuxième groupe de réfugiés sous la direction de 
Michel Bergeron suit en 1764. Ce groupe voyagea par les 
rivières St-Jean et Cacouna pour aboutir à Bécancour 
après de rudes épreuves d’endurance. Ils s’établirent à 
l’emplacement qui deviendra le village de St-Grégoire. 

A second group of refugees under the direction of Michel 
Bergeron followed in 1764. This group traveled by the St. 
John and Cacouna Rivers to arrive at Bécancour after 
harsh tests of endurance. They settled at the site that 
would become the village of St-Grégoire. 

Un troisième groupe plus nombreux et déporté, celui-là, 
sur les côtes de la Nouvelle-Angleterre, demanda et 
obtint des autorités américaines le droit de rejoindre 
leurs familles au Québec. Ils arrivèrent à compter de 
1767 et s’installèrent sur ce qui deviendra le boulevard 
des Acadiens et les rangs avoisinants. 

A third, larger group that had been deported to the New 
England Coast, asked and obtained from U.S. authorities 
the right to join their families in Quebec. They arrived 
starting 1767 and settled on what became the Boulevard 
des Acadiens and the neighboring lanes. 

Ces nouveaux arrivants robustes et aguerris formeront 
un solide noyau qui se démarquera des habitants de 
Nicolet et de Bécancour auxquels ils refusèrent de 
s’intégrer. Ils réclamèrent une paroisse et une identité 
bien à eux. Ces Acadiens tenaces obtinrent gain de cause 
en 1803 lorsque les autorités civiles et religieuses leur 
octroyèrent une paroisse et une église bien à eux sous le 
vocable de « Saint-Grégoire » même si les paroissiens 
préféraient le nom de « Sainte-Marguerite ». 

These robust and seasoned newcomers formed a core 
group that stood out from the residents of Nicolet and 
Bécancour to which they refused to integrate. They 
demanded a separate parish and claimed their own 
identity. These stubborn Acadians succeeded in 1803 
when civil and religious authorities granted them a parish 
and a church under the patronage of “Saint-Grégoire” 
even if parishioners preferred the name of “Sainte-
Marguerite”. 

Abel et sa famille firent partie du groupe qui s’installa à 
Bécancour en 1767. 

Abel and his family were amongst the group that settled 
in Bécancour as of 1767. 

La région de Bécancour, comme celle de 
l’Assomption/St-Jacques et celle de la Vallée du 
Richelieu, devinrent rapidement de nouveaux lieux de 
ralliement pour les Acadiens dispersés. 

The Bécancour area, like that of l’Assomption/St-Jacques 
and the Richelieu Valley area, quickly became the new 
gathering points for the displaced Acadians. 

Comme il en a été le cas pour les familles de ses frères à 
St-Jacques, la croissance de la famille d’Abel et le manque 
de terres arables força les nouvelles générations à 
émigrer vers des territoires avoisinants. 

As in the case of his brothers’ families in St-Jacques, the 
growth of Abel’s family and the lack of arable land forced 
new generations to move to adjoining territories. 

Par la quatrième génération, l’expansion de la famille 
d’Abel est beaucoup moins prononcée que celles de ses 
frères. La distribution de la famille, avec peu 
d’exceptions, consistait à une région de 150 kilomètres 
(90 milles) de diamètre. 

By the fourth generation, the expansion of Abel’s family 
footprint is much less aggressive than that of his siblings.  
The distribution of the family, with few exceptions, was 
contained in an area of 150 kilometers (90 miles) in 
diameter. 

Par ce temps, certains des descendants de Germain 
avaient émigré dans la région et augmenté le nombre des 
descendants de Claude Bourgeois vivant dans la région. 

By this time, some of Germain’s descendants had 
migrated to the area and increased the number of Claude 
Bourgeois’ descendants living in the region. 

Par la septième génération, la famille était toujours 
regroupée dans le coin sud-est du Québec avec l’ajout de 
deux endroits au Massachusetts, un en Ontario et un en 
Alberta. 

By the seventh generation, the family was still confined 
to the South-Eastern corner of Quebec, with the addition 
of two locations in Massachusetts, one in Ontario and 
one in Alberta. 

Quoiqu’ils étaient sujets aux mêmes pressions 
économiques que les descendants de ses frères, les 
descendants d’Abel semblaient avoir un plus fort 

Although subjected to the same economic pressures as 
his siblings’ descendants, Abel’s descendants seem to 
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attachement aux racines familiales et à leur nouvelle 
patrie québécoise. 

have had stronger ties to their family roots and their new 
Quebec homeland. 

 

 

2- Distribution de la descendance d’Abel Bourgeois à la 4e génération 
Distribution of Abel Bourgeois’ descendants by the 4th generation 

 

Memramcook, NB 
 

Pierre-Benjamin, le fils aîné de Claude, réussi à éviter la 
déportation. 

Pierre-Benjamin the eldest of Claude’s sons managed to 
avoid deportation. 

Ayant émigré en provenance de la Nouvelle-Écosse vers le 
Nouveau-Brunswick à la fin de la guerre, Pierre-Benjamin 
s’établi d’abord à Memramcook, puis ensuite à Grande-
Digue où il décéda. 

Having moved from Nova Scotia to New Brunswick by the 
end of the war, Pierre-Benjamin settled first in 
Memramcook, but later moved to Grande-Digue were he 
died. 

À la quatrième génération, la famille demeurait concentrée 
dans le sud-est du Nouveau-Brunswick et dans le comté de 
Cumberland en Nouvelle-Écosse, y ayant émigré dû au 
manque de terres pour les familles croissantes et aux 
opportunités économiques. 

By the fourth generation the family remained concentrated 
in South-Eastern New Brunswick and Cumberland County, 
Nova Scotia where they had migrated due to the lack of land 
for the growing families and to economic opportunities. 

La famille demeura principalement en agriculture quoique 
ceux en Nouvelle-Écosse semblent s’être associés aux mines 
et au nouveau service ferroviaire. 

The family remains mostly agricultural although those in 
Nova Scotia seem to be associated with mining and the 
burgeoning railway service. 

À la cinquième génération, nous voyons une expansion 
rapide de l’empreinte de la famille, qui s’est maintenant 

By the fifth generation we see a rapid expansion of the family 
footprint, which now includes Cape Breton, NS; Montreal, 
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rendue jusqu’au Cap-Breton en N.-É., à Montréal, au QC, au 
Maine et au Massachusetts. La migration vers les états du 
Maine et du Massachusetts coïncide avec l’industrialisation 
de ces états. 

QC; Maine and Massachusetts. The move to Maine and 
Massachusetts coincides with the industrialisation of both 
states. 

Par la septième génération, l’empreinte inclus une petite 
enclave en Ontario et au Saskatchewan, au Canada ainsi 
qu’au Connecticut, au New Hampshire et au Rhode Island 
aux États-Unis. 

By the seventh generation the footprint included a small 
pocket in Ontario and Saskatchewan in Canada, as well as 
Connecticut, New Hampshire, and Rhode Island in the 
United States. 

 

Sommaire  //  Summary 
 

Depuis la déportation au Massachusetts et ce qui aurait pu 
sembler être la fin de sa famille, à son décès et celui d’au 
moins une fille, jusqu’à l’espoir d’un retour possible à un 
territoire catholique francophone, Claude a eu ce qui a dû 
être une vie très difficile. 

From the deportation to Massachusetts and what must have 
seemed like the possible end of his family, to his death and 
that of at least one daughter, to the hope of a possible return 
to a French Catholic territory, Claude had what must have 
been an exceedingly difficult life. 

De ses quatre fils et des sept générations et plus qui ont suivi, 
nous sommes en mesure d’identifier quelque 15 000 
descendants dont plus de 6 600 portent le nom de famille 
Bourgeois ou l’une de ses variantes (c.-à-d. Bourjeois,  
Bushwa,   Bushway,  Bushware,  Blaise,  Boss  et  Foreman)  
vivant maintenant à travers le Canada et les États-Unis.   

From his four sons and over the seven plus generations that 
have followed, we are able to identify some 15,000 
descendants of which over 6,600 carry the Bourgeois 
surname or one of its variants (i.e., Bourjeois, Bushwa, 
Bushway, Bushware, Blaise, Boss and Foreman) now living 
across Canada and the United States. 

De cette grande tragédie est sorti un grand héritage. From what was a great tragedy came a great legacy. 

Dans au moins un cas, la famille a adopté le patronyme 
« Burgess » qui est l’équivalent anglo-germanique de 
« Bourgeois ». 

In at least one case, the family took on the surname 
“Burgess” which is the anglo-germanic equivalent of 
“Bourgeois”. 
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3 - Distribution de la descendence de Pierre-Benjamin Bourgeois à la 4e génération 
Distribution of Pierre Benjamin Bourgeois’ descendants by the 4th generation 

 

 

4 -  Distribution de toute la descendance de Claude Bourgeois à la 7e génération 
Distribution of all of Claude Bourgeois’ descendants by the 7th generation 

 


